ECOHYDROLOGICAL CONTROLS OF NATURAL AND RESTORED LICHEN AND MOSS CO2 EXCHANGE ON A ROCK BARRENS LANDSCAPE

ECOHYDROLOGICAL CONTROLS OF NATURAL AND RESTORED LICHEN AND MOSS CO₂ EXCHANGE ON A ROCK BARRENS LANDSCAPE

By DANIELLE T. HUDSON, Hons. B.Sc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

McMaster University

© Copyright by Danielle T. Hudson, July 2020

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2020)

McMaster University

School of Earth, Environment & Society

Hamilton, Ontario, Canada

TITLE: Ecohydrological controls of natural and restored lichen and moss CO₂ exchange on a rock barrens landscape

AUTHOR: Danielle Hudson, Hons. B.Sc. (McMaster University) SUPERVISOR: Dr. James M. Waddington NUMBER OF PAGES: xvi, 108

Abstract

Lichen and moss are the dominant ground cover on the Canadian Shield rock barrens of eastern Georgian Bay, and they provide many ecosystem services. Lichen and moss mats are essential for developing and accumulating soil on the bedrock landscape, and as the mats establish they moderate soil temperature and reduce soil water losses, thereby improving the microclimate for more complex vegetation. In addition to pioneering ecosystem succession, the lichen and moss mats provide essential nesting habitat for turtle species-at-risk. These lichen and moss mats are not well understood on rock barrens landscapes, and as such this thesis aims to increase knowledge of the growth, persistence and restoration approaches for these valuable ecosystem resources. We quantified the ecohydrological controls on the growth of lichen and moss mats by measuring the CO₂ exchange of lichen and moss under varying environmental conditions. From these results we determined that key growth periods for lichen and moss were during the wet portions of the growing season (spring and fall), and that growth was limited or non-existent during the dry period (summer). Further, we determined that soil moisture was the most important control on lichen and moss CO₂ exchange, and that this relationship differed among cover type (lichen, moss, mix of lichen and moss). Moss was able to continue CO_2 uptake at a lower water content than lichen, suggesting that lichen would have a greater decline in productivity under drier conditions. A decline in lichen and moss productivity would also likely lead to a decline in soil development through chemical weathering which, in turn, could affect the availability of turtle nesting habitat. We also used CO_2 exchange measurements to compare lichen and moss productivity between natural and transplanted mats. Transplanting in-tact patches of lichen and moss has not been widely studied, and as such we tested this approach on a rock barrens landscape. We determined that natural and transplant productivity did not differ for lichen, and that there were some differences

between treatments for mixed and moss plots. We also used the tea bag index method to compare relative decomposition rates between treatments (natural, transplant), where we found that decomposition rates did not differ. Our results indicate that it is feasible to remove lichen mats from the footprint of a planned disturbance such as construction and transplant them successfully to nearby undisturbed areas. This approach would restore the lichen cover and the ecosystem services that lichens provide immediately rather than waiting decades for natural regrowth or fragment establishment. As a whole, this thesis will increase knowledge of both the growth and persistence, as well as the restoration of lichen and moss on rock barrens landscapes. Given that lichens and mosses of these genera grow globally, our findings can be applied widely to enhance and protect lichen and moss mats, and the ecosystem services they provide.

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Mike Waddington. Prior to joining the McMaster Ecohydrology Lab, I didn't know exactly what I would be doing after undergrad, but at the time I did not think it would be research. I am so grateful to Mike for giving me that first opportunity (and so many more since) and helping me to discover my love for research and fieldwork. Thank you for supporting my ideas, sharing your advice and insight, encouraging me to do a master's thesis, and for building up my confidence in the work I've been doing.

I would like to thank our lab's Post Docs, Paul, Sophie, Lorna and Chantel. Paul, thank you for always being willing to share your extensive knowledge and helping to solve the many technical problems I've come across in the field over the past few years. Sophie, thank you for always being there to listen and for providing such an excellent example of an early career researcher, you contribute so much to the peatland community, and it does not go unnoticed. Lorna, thank you for taking time to teach me to use manual chambers and for igniting my interest in the lichens. Chantel, thank you for being such an excellent mentor and investing so much of your own time in my growth as a student and researcher. Your positivity and willingness to help others is something I will strive for as I move forward. I think you set high, but realistic expectations for the students you work with, and knowing that kept me closely focused on my goals and timeline, and definitely made my work better.

Next I would like to begin thanking all of the wonderful, hilarious, and brilliant Ecohydrology Lab members that I had the pleasure of working with over the past few years. Hope, thank you for being an ideal field assistant. I couldn't have asked for a more positive, inquisitive, and helpful person to spend most of my master's field season with. I learned so much from you, and I wish I could have returned the favour and helped out with your fieldwork this summer! Taylor, thank you for always bringing your positivity and joy to the field, but also bringing that intensity and drive to be efficient and get work done. Greg and Renée, thank you for always agreeing to help with fieldwork and taking the time to brainstorm with me in the office, I so appreciate it. Jess, Alex F, Waverley, and Nicole, thank you for making my first field season so fun and enjoyable. Becky, Katie, Kieran, Alex T, Keegan, and Ian, thank you for helping me along the way and always being delightful humans to work and live with. Our lab is the best, and so many people contributed to my positive experiences, whether helping out with data collection, playing bingo with the Parry Sound elderly, getting ice cream at the Island Queen, or enjoying beer and pretzels at Trestle, it would not have been the same without you.

Finally, thank you to my family for your endless support and for always cheering me on. Mum, thank you for always helping me improve and edit my work in undergrad (and now hopefully I can convince you to read this thesis!). Dad, thank you for always saying yes when I needed a field partner. Christina, despite having little idea as to what I've been studying for the past three years, you've always been a cheerleader, so thank you!

While it is sad to be saying goodbye to the lab virtually, I have so many amazing memories with these wonderful people that I know I am not missing out on anything. Thank you all, I could not have done it without you!

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	v
Table of Contents	vii
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	xii
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	xiii
Declaration of Academic Achievement	XV
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
Rock barrens landscapes and ecosystem succession	1
Lichen and moss on rock barrens	2
Lichen and moss vulnerability to disturbance and restoration methods	3
Turtle nesting on the eastern Georgian Bay landscape	5
Thesis objectives	7
Literature cited	8
Chapter 2: Ecohydrological controls on rock barrens lichen and moss CO ₂ exchange:	
Implications for primary soil formation and turtle nesting habitat	20
Abstract	20
Introduction	21
Methods	24
Study area	24
Production (CO ₂ exchange)	25
Decomposition	27
Soil moisture and temperature	27
Analyses	28
Results	31
Soil moisture and temperature	31
Production (CO ₂ exchange)	34
Ecohydrological controls	38
Decomposition	41
Discussion	43

Acknowledgements	47
Literature cited	48
Chapter 3: CO ₂ exchange of natural and restored lichen and moss patches on a rock barrens landscape: Applications for turtle species-at-risk nesting habitat	59
Abstract	59
Introduction	60
Methods	65
Study area	65
Transplant and natural sites	66
CO ₂ exchange	68
Soil moisture and temperature	69
Decomposition rates	69
Analyses	70
Results	71
CO ₂ exchange	71
Predicted response to temperature and moisture	78
Decomposition rates	80
Discussion	81
Acknowledgements	85
Literature cited	86
Chapter 4: General Conclusion	100
Literature cited	104

List of Figures

Figure 2.3: Mean net ecosystem productivity (NEP), ecosystem respiration (ER), and gross primary productivity (GPP) fluxes (\pm 95% confidence intervals) for lichen (a), mixed (b), and moss (c) plots in the wet (lichen n = 59, mixed n = 63, moss n = 58) and dry (lichen n = 49, mixed n =55, moss n = 74) periods from 8 May to 17 October 2019. GPP sample size differed from NEP and ER for the wet (lichen n = 59, mixed n = 63, moss n = 58) and dry (lichen n = 44, mixed n =of 44, moss n 59) periods after removal negative =

Figure 2.4: Relationship between incoming photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD, μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹) and gross primary productivity (GPP, μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹) for lichen (a) during the wet (red line, n =

Figure 2.6: Mass lost (%) between (a) 2015-2016 and (b) 2015-2017 for lichen (2016, n = 28; 2017, n = 14) and moss (2016, n = 51; 2017, n = 28) fragments......42

Figure S2.1: Breakpoint analysis of cumulative rainfall	(mm) indicating that the dry season be	egan
on 25 June 2019 and ended on 31 August 2019		29

Figure 3.2: Mean differences in ecosystem respiration (ER) between transplant and natural plots $(\pm 99\%$ confidence intervals) within season (wet, dry) and cover type (lichen, mixed, moss).....74

Figure 3.4: Relationship between incoming photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD, μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹) and gross primary productivity (GPP, μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹) for natural lichen (a) during the wet ($\alpha = 70.3$, GPP_{max} = 1.24, R² = 0.018) and dry period ($\alpha = -23.3$, GPP_{max} = 0.61, R² = 0.002), transplant lichen (b) during the wet ($\alpha = -58.73$, GPP_{max} = 0.55, R² = 0.028) and dry period ($\alpha = -89.84$, GPP_{max} = 0.36, R² = 0.026), natural mixed (c) during the wet ($\alpha = 155.26$, GPP_{max} = 2.61, R² = 0.072) and dry period ($\alpha = -10.35$, GPP_{max} = 1.08, R² = 0), transplant mixed (d) during the wet ($\alpha = 778.25$, GPP_{max} = 4.05, R² = 0.161) and dry period ($\alpha = -33.93$, GPP_{max} = 0.43, R² = 0.004), natural moss (e) during the wet ($\alpha = 451.68$, GPP_{max} = 4.93, R² = 0.73) and dry period ($\alpha = -218.06$, GPP_{max} = 0.88, R² = 0.057;), and transplant moss (f) during the wet ($\alpha = 103.92$, GPP_{max} = 1.27, R² = 0.02) and dry period ($\alpha = -136.36$, GPP_{max} = 0.27, R² = 0.066). GPP and PPFD calculated from field CO₂ and PPFD measurements for natural lichen (a), transplant lichen (b), natural mixed

(c), transplant mixed	l (d), natural mos	ss (e), and transp	lant moss (f) du	ring the wet (red	1 points) and
dry (grey points) per	iods				77

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Site description and depths of both soil moisture and temperature probes (m)......67

List of Abbreviations and Symbols

ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
CI	Confidence Intervals
CO ₂	Carbon Dioxide
k	Decomposition rate
°C	Degrees Celsius
df	Degrees of Freedom
Δ	Mean difference of transplant minus natural \pm confidence intervals
ER	Ecosystem Respiration
GLMM	Generalized Linear Mixed Model
GPP	Gross Primary Productivity
α	Initial slope of the modeled GPP and PPFD curve
LMM	Linear Mixed Model
LN	Lichen Natural
LT	Lichen Transplant
GPP _{max}	Maximum GPP for the modeled GPP and PPFD curve
MN	Mixed Natural

MoN	Moss Natural
МоТ	Moss Transplant
MT	Mixed Transplant
NE	North East
NEP	Net Ecosystem Productivity
NOBEL	Northern Ontario Barrens and Bog Ecosystems Landscape
K	Percent of mass lost
PPFD	Photosynthetic Photon Flux Density
PVC	Polyvinyl Chloride
Spp.	Species
S	Stabilization factor
TBI	Tea Bag Index
USA	United States of America
VWC	Volumetric water content
χ^2	Chi Square

Declaration of Academic Achievement

This thesis has been prepared in the "sandwich thesis" format, where chapters two and three are independent manuscripts. Chapter one and chapter four provide a general introduction and conclusion, respectively.

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Author: Danielle T. Hudson

Chapter 2: Ecohydrological controls on rock barrens lichen and moss CO₂ exchange: Implications for primary soil formation and turtle nesting habitat

Authors: Danielle T. Hudson, Chantel E. Markle, Lorna I. Harris, and James M. Waddington Submitted to Ecohydrology, currently under review

Comments: D.T.H collected and analyzed all data and wrote the manuscript under the supervision of C.E.M and J.M.W. C.E.M, L. I. H. and J.M.W provided insight on the methodology, analysis and preparation of manuscript for submission.

Chapter 3: CO₂ exchange of natural and restored lichen and moss patches on a rock barrens landscape: Applications for turtle species-at-risk nesting habitat

Authors: Danielle T. Hudson, Chantel E. Markle, and James M. Waddington

Comments: D.T.H collected and analyzed all data and wrote the manuscript under the supervision of C.E.M and J.M.W. C.E.M and J.M.W provided insight on the methodology, analysis and preparation of manuscript for submission.

Chapter 4: General Conclusion

Author: Danielle T. Hudson

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Rock barrens landscapes and ecosystem succession

Rock barrens landscapes are unique ecosystems which provide specialized habitat and support a wide diversity of flora and fauna (*e.g.* Withers & Edward, 1997). These rock outcrops are geological features which were formed by glacial erosion and have since evolved into a non-uniform surface of smooth rock, shallow depressions, and deeper crevices which provide specialized microhabitat for flora and fauna (*e.g.* Withers & Edward, 1997). Rock barrens landscapes also have a fill-and-spill hydrological regime (Spence & Woo, 2002). Depressions in the bedrock, which are often overlain by lichen and moss, act as storage units for overland flow, slowing runoff and reducing downslope flooding (Spence & Woo, 2002). As a result of this hydrological regime, the lichen and moss that dominate the bedrock depressions are subject to rapid wetting and drying cycles, and soil moisture is often limited.

Given the high temperatures, low moisture availability, and high light conditions characteristic of rock barrens landscapes, the organisms that can establish on bare rock are limited (Burbanck & Platt, 1964; Keever et al., 1951). Biological soil crust organisms such as lichen, moss, and microbial communities are the first to colonize open bedrock because they are desiccation resistant and do not require soil to establish (Burbanck & Platt, 1964; Keever et al., 1951). Once lichen and moss have established, they begin to accumulate soil by chemically weathering the bedrock (Jackson, 2015), decomposing and forming organic soil (Keever et al., 1951), and trapping soil particles from the wind (Burbanck & Platt, 1964). As the lichen and moss grow and accumulate soil, they moderate the temperature and moisture conditions on the landscape (Kershaw & Field, 1975; Moore et al., 2019), thus allowing more complex vegetation to survive (Shure & Ragsdale,

1977). Over time, the organic content of the soil, the vegetation biodiversity, and the ability of the soil to hold moisture all increase (Shure & Ragsdale, 1977)

Lichen and moss on rock barrens

Lichens are among the first organisms to colonize granitic bedrock (Keever et al., 1951; Lange, 2001), where crustose and foliose lichens arrive first, as they can withstand high heat, low moisture and do not require soil to establish (Keever et al., 1951; Lange, 2001). Next, fruticose lichens (e.g. Cladonia spp.) begin to form mats on the bedrock and accumulate soil (Keever et al., 1951; Lange, 2001). Lichen growth is largely governed by their metabolic response to water availability, temperature and incoming solar radiation (Baldauf et al., 2018; Lange, 2001; Lechowicz, 1978; Sveinbjornsson & Oechel, 1983). However, there is a gap in knowledge with regards to the metabolic processes of lichen in situ on rock barrens landscapes. Lichens are slow growing, with growth rates of approximately 5 mm per year due to low carbon assimilation and a low chlorophyll content (Smith, 1962). Water content is critical in determining lichen metabolic rates, and moisture conditions will often determine where lichens establish across a landscape (Smith, 1962). Lichens have no mechanism for conserving water (Smith, 1962), but they are drought resistant as a result of their ability to go into a dormant state when water is unavailable (Lange, 1953; Smith, 1962). Temperature is also an important control on lichen metabolic activity (Kershaw & Field, 1975), but studies on the response of lichen and moss to changes in temperature are uncommon (Lange, 2001).

Mosses, particularly *Polytrichum* spp., supersede lichen in the succession of rock barrens ecosystems and are critical resources on the landscape. Mosses are able to withstand the low moisture and high temperatures of rock barrens ecosystems (Groeneveld & Rochefort, 2005) and

they are essential for facilitating growth of more complex vegetation as they regulate the microclimate and stabilize soil deposits (Groeneveld et al., 2007; Lindo & Gonzalez, 2010; Turetsky, 2003). Similar to lichens, the metabolic activity of moss is largely controlled by light, water, and nutrient availability (Turetsky, 2003; Zotz & Kahler, 2007). *Polytrichum* spp. mosses are adapted to withstand water stress and when water is unavailable *Polytrichum* spp. will close their leaves to limit photosynthesis and respiration during drought (Anderson & Bourdeau, 1955; Bayfield, 1973) and as such, growth of *Polytrichum* spp. will only occur when water is available (Vitt, 1990). Few researchers have considered the role temperature plays in moss growth (*e.g.* Corradini & Clément, 1999; Sveinbjornsson & Oechel, 1983). Sveinbjornsson and Oechel (1983) found that *Polytrichum* spp. had lower net photosynthesis under cooler temperatures, and Corradini and Clément (1999) found that the optimal growth rate of *Polytrichum commune* occurred within a temperature range of 7 to 15 °C. *Polytrichum* spp. are relatively rapid colonizers and researchers have found that it can take two to three growing seasons for the mosses to form a significant mat (Corradini & Clément, 1999; Groeneveld & Rochefort, 2005).

Lichen and moss vulnerability to disturbance and restoration methods

Despite the importance of lichen and moss to the integrity of rock barrens ecosystems, their low growth rate makes them vulnerable to disturbance. As a result of climate change, drought severity and frequency are expected to increase (Dai et al., 2004; Price et al., 2013; Trenberth et al., 2007), and in the northern hemisphere warm, dry conditions characteristic of summer weather, are predicted to become more common (Trenberth et al., 2007; Vrac et al., 2014; Walther et al., 2002). For lichen and moss, which rely on precipitation for moisture availability, this could mean reduced annual growth and greater respiration. Lichen and moss are further vulnerable to land use

change and disturbance. As development and resource extraction increase, lichen and moss are often not considered in restoration plans (Bowker, 2007). Since lichen and moss are slow growing, a loss of these mats from a given landscape can have long-term implications for the ecosystem.

Restoration approaches for lichen and moss have been considered, but are not widely studied (Bowker, 2007). One common thought is that lichen and moss take too long to recover and are not easily restored (Bowker, 2007). However, because lichen and moss provide critical habitat for key species and are essential for rock barrens succession, restoration of these resources can potentially jumpstart ecosystem recovery. Two common approaches for lichen and moss restoration are fragment dispersal and in-tact patch transplant. Fragment dispersal involves spreading fragments of the lichen or moss on a suitable substrate and allowing them to establish over time (e.g. Groeneveld & Rochefort, 2005; Groeneveld et al., 2007; Roturier et al., 2007). This method is reasonable for mosses which can form a mat in approximately three years (Graf & Rochefort, 2010; Roturier et al., 2007), but it is less feasible for lichens, which can take up to 45 years to form a mat from fragments (Carroll & Bliss, 1982; Crittenden, 2000; Dunford et al., 2006; Roturier et al., 2007). Furthermore, it is difficult for fragments to establish on a given substrate because there is a high potential for disturbance by animal movements, wind, and water (Duncan, 2015; Roturier et al., 2007; Roturier & Bergsten, 2009). The second known, but understudied, approach is transplanting patches of in-tact lichen and moss. Researchers have used this approach and have seen success (e.g. Groeneveld & Rochefort, 2005; Roturier & Bergsten, 2009), but these studies have not quantified the growth of these transplants in comparison to natural plots by measuring the CO₂ exchange. Transplanting in-tact patches of lichen and moss could potentially restore the ecosystem services of a natural mat, without having to wait the period of time required for fragments to establish.

Turtle nesting on the eastern Georgian Bay landscape

Recruitment rates are declining in many turtle populations (Compton, 2007; Lesbarrères et al., 2014; Marchand & Litvaitis, 2004b; Steen & Gibbs, 2004), largely as a result of habitat loss (e.g. wetlands, upland nesting habitat) and degradation (Lesbarrères et al., 2014; Steen et al., 2012; Walton & Villeneuve, 1999), and the life history traits of turtles, such as delayed sexual maturity and low nest survival which constrain population recovery (e.g. Congdon et al., 1993; Congdon et al., 1994). Female turtles travel long distances on land to locate nesting sites (e.g. Blanding's turtle (Emydoidea blandingii), Edge et al., 2010), which increases their interaction with roads, and thereby increases their risk of mortality (Steen et al., 2006). Furthermore, females are often attracted to unpaved roads and the gravel shoulders of roads for nesting (Beaudry et al., 2010; Steen et al., 2006), which negatively impacts recruitment rates as roadside nests can lead to injury or mortality of both the nesting females and hatchlings (e.g. Aresco, 2004; Aresco, 2005; Steen et al., 2006). Nest predation is also a significant concern, as some turtle populations can have 90-100% of the nests depredated by mesopredators such as foxes, skunks, and raccoons (e.g. Aresco, 2004; Congdon et al., 1987). Given the impact of these stressors on the recruitment rates of turtle populations (Compton, 2007; Lesbarrères et al., 2014; Marchand & Litvaitis, 2004a; Steen & Gibbs, 2004), conservation efforts need to be undertaken. However, if conservation efforts are lacking sufficient research and understanding, management can be ineffective or potentially damaging (Congdon et al., 2000; Kolbe & Janzen, 2002). Globally, reptile species are declining (Gibbons et al., 2000), and in Ontario, all 8 native turtle species are classified as species-at-risk, indicating that there are significant threats to Ontario's turtle populations (Government of Canada, 2019). Species-at-risk protections are largely based on conserving the critical habitat used by the species (*e.g.* habitat required for reproduction or overwintering; Government of Canada, 2019), and thus it is essential that we understand how these critical habitats function and persist on the given landscapes.

In eastern Georgian Bay, turtle species-at-risk, such as midland painted (Chrysemys picta marginata), Blanding's (Emydoidea blandingii), and snapping turtles (Chelydra serpentina) select nest sites in lichen- and moss-dominated soil deposits in bedrock depressions and crevices (e.g. Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014). The properties of lichen and moss cover enhance the suitability of these soil-filled bedrock depressions for nesting. Turtle nest sites must retain enough heat for embryo development while also keeping the soil cool enough to avoid egg desiccation (Gutzke & Packard, 1987; Packard et al., 1987; Standing et al., 1999). Lichen and moss moderate soil temperatures, thereby maintaining these conditions (Moore et al., 2019). Soil moisture is another important factor for nest success. If the soil is too dry it will collapse making nest construction difficult and dry soil could also lead to egg desiccation (Congdon et al., 2000). Second, if the soil does not allow sufficient drainage the nest could flood and the eggs would not survive (Congdon et al., 2000; Kiviat et al., 2004; Standing et al., 1999). Lichen and moss support the moisture regime needed for successful nests by reducing diffusive water losses from the soil (Moore et al., 2019). Further, successful nests require an open area with low canopy cover (Congdon et al., 2000; Schwarzkopf & Brooks, 1987), and lichen and moss mats maintain a short cover height. Therefore, to understand the persistence of nesting habitat on the rock barrens landscape we must also understand the growth and persistence of lichen and moss, a critical component of suitable turtle species-at-risk nesting habitat in eastern Georgian Bay.

Thesis objectives

The objectives of this thesis are to first identify the key controlling variables on lichen and moss persistence on rock barrens landscapes, and second to investigate an understudied approach to restoring lichen and moss cover. To address the first objective, we measure the CO₂ exchange of lichen, mixed (lichen and moss), and moss plots, as well as environmental variables such as soil moisture, soil temperature, air temperature, and air relative humidity. We use statistical analyses to determine which of the measured ecohydrological variables has the strongest control on the net ecosystem productivity (NEP), ecosystem respiration (ER), and gross primary productivity (GPP) of lichen and moss. Further, we determine when lichen and moss growth primarily occurs between May and October. This research is critical for understanding the ecohydrological controls on the lichen and moss that dominate rock barrens landscapes. To address the second objective, we measure the CO₂ exchange and decomposition of natural and transplanted lichen and moss patches to quantify success in the first four months following transplant. We pair the transplanted lichen and moss patches with natural undisturbed patches and compare the NEP, ER and GPP. We use the decomposition of tea bags to compare relative differences in decomposition rates between transplant and natural treatments. These research findings are important because lichen and moss are essential for suitable turtle species-at-risk nesting habitat on rock barrens landscapes, and our transplant approach can be used to enhance restoration of these ecosystem resources.

Literature cited

- Anderson, L. E., & Bourdeau, P. F. (1955). Water relations in two species of terrestrial mosses. *Ecology*, 36(2), 206-212. https://doi.org/10.2307/1933226
- Aresco, M. J. (2004). Reproductive ecology of *Pseudemys floridana* and *Trachemys scripta* (Testudines: Emydidae) in northwestern Florida. *Journal of Herpetology*, 249-256. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1566222
- Aresco, M. J. (2005). The effect of sex-specific terrestrial movements and roads on the sex ratio of freshwater turtles. *Biological Conservation*, 123(1), 37-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2004.10.006
- Baldauf, S., de Guevara, M. L., Maestre, F. T., & Tietjen, B. (2018). Soil moisture dynamics under two rainfall frequency treatments drive early spring CO₂ gas exchange of lichen-dominated biocrusts in central Spain. *PeerJ*, 6, e5904. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5904
- Bayfield, N. G. (1973). Notes on water relations of *Polytrichum commune* Hedw. Journal of Bryology, 7(4), 607-617. https://doi.org/10.1179/jbr.1973.7.4.607
- Beaudry, F., deMaynadier, P. G., & Hunter Jr, M. L. (2010). Nesting movements and the use of anthropogenic nesting sites by spotted turtles (*Clemmys guttata*) and Blanding's turtles (*Emydoidea blandingii*). *Herpetological Conservation and Biology*, 5(1), 1-8.

- Bowker, M. A. (2007). Biological soil crust rehabilitation in theory and practice: an underexploited opportunity. *Restoration Ecology*, 15(1), 13-23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2006.00185.x
- Burbanck, M. P., & Platt, R. B. (1964). Granite outcrop communities of the Piedmont Plateau in Georgia. *Ecology*, 45(2), 292-306. https://doi.org/10.2307/1933842
- Carroll, S. B., & Bliss, L. C. (1982). Jack pine–lichen woodland on sandy soils in northern Saskatchewan and northeastern Alberta. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 60(11), 2270-2282. https://doi.org/10.1139/b82-278
- Compton, B. (2007). Status Assessment for the Blanding's Turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) in the Northeast. *Prepared for the United States Fish and Wildlife Service. Department of Natural Resources Conservation, University of Massachusetts. Amherst, Massachusetts.*
- Congdon, J. D., Breitenbach, G. L., van Loben Sels, R. C., & Tinkle, D. W. (1987). Reproduction and nesting ecology of snapping turtles (*Chelydra serpentina*) in southeastern Michigan. *Herpetologica*, 39-54. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3892436
- Congdon, J. D., Dunham, A. E., & van Loben Sels, R. C. (1993). Delayed sexual maturity and demographics of Blanding's turtles (*Emydoidea blandingii*): implications for conservation and management of long-lived organisms. *Conservation Biology*, 7(4), 826-833. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1993.740826.x

- Congdon, J. D., Dunham, A. E., & Sels, R. V. L. (1994). Demographics of common snapping turtles (*Chelydra serpentina*): implications for conservation and management of long-lived organisms. *American Zoologist*, 34(3), 397-408. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/34.3.397
- Congdon, J.D., Nagle, R.D., Kinney, O.M., Osenioski, M., Avery, H.W., van Loben Sels, R.C., & Tinkle, D.W. (2000). Nesting ecology and embryo mortality: Implications for hatchling success and demography of Blanding's turtles (*Emydoidea blandingii*). *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, 3(4), 569-579.
- Corradini, P., & Clément, B. (1999). Growth pattern and modular reiteration of a hardy coloniser *Polytrichum commune* Hedw. *Plant Ecology*, *143*(1), 67-76. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009837430348
- Crittenden, P. D. (2000). Aspects of the ecology of mat-forming lichens. *Rangifer*, 20(2-3), 127-139. https://doi.org/10.7557/2.20.2-3.1508
- Dai, A., Trenberth, K. E., & Qian, T. (2004). A global dataset of Palmer Drought Severity Index for 1870–2002: Relationship with soil moisture and effects of surface warming. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 5(6), 1117-1130. https://doi.org/10.1175/JHM-386.1
- Duncan, S. J. (2015). Woodland caribou alpine range restoration: An application for lichen transplants. *Ecological Restoration*, *33*(1), 22-29. https://doi.org10.3368/er.33.1.22

- Dunford, J. S., McLoughlin, P. D., Dalerum, F., & Boutin, S. (2006). Lichen abundance in the peatlands of northern Alberta: implications for boreal caribou. *Ecoscience*, 13(4), 469-474. https://doi.org/10.2980/1195-6860(2006)13[469:LAITPO]2.0.CO;2
- Edge, C. B., Steinberg, B. D., Brooks, R. J., & Litzgus, J. D. (2010). Habitat selection by Blanding's turtles (*Emydoidea blandingii*) in a relatively pristine landscape. *Ecoscience*, 17(1), 90-99. https://doi.org/10.2980/17-1-3317
- Gibbons, J. W., Scott, D. E., Ryan, T. J., Buhlmann, K. A., Tuberville, T. D., Metts, B. S., ... & Winne, C. T. (2000). The Global Decline of Reptiles, Déjà Vu Amphibians: Reptile species are declining on a global scale. Six significant threats to reptile populations are habitat loss and degradation, introduced invasive species, environmental pollution, disease, unsustainable use, and global climate change. *BioScience*, *50*(8), 653-666.
- Government of Canada. 2019. Species at risk public registry. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/species-risk-publicregistry.html
- Graf, M. D., & Rochefort, L. (2010). Moss regeneration for fen restoration: field and greenhouse experiments. *Restoration Ecology*, 18(1), 121-130. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2008.00437.x

- Groeneveld, E., & Rochefort, L. (2005). *Polytrichum strictum* as a solution to frost heaving in disturbed ecosystems: a case study with milled peatlands. *Restoration Ecology*, *13*(1), 74-82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2005.00009.x
- Groeneveld, E. V., Masse, A., & Rochefort, L. (2007). Polytrichum strictum as a nurse-plant in peatland restoration. Restoration Ecology, 15(4), 709-719. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2007.00283.x
- Gutzke, W. H., & Packard, G. C. (1987). The influence of temperature on eggs and hatchlings of Blanding's Turtles, *Emydoidea blandingii*. *Journal of Herpetology*, 161-163. https://doi.org/10.2307/1564476
- Jackson, T. A. (2015). Weathering, secondary mineral genesis, and soil formation caused by lichens and mosses growing on granitic gneiss in a boreal forest environment. *Geoderma*, 251, 78-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.03.012
- Keever, C., Oosting, H. J., & Anderson, L. E. (1951). Plant succession on exposed granite of rocky face mountain, Alexander County, North Carolina. *Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club*, 78. 401-421. https://doi. org/10.2307/2482020

- Kershaw, K. A., & Field, G. F. (1975). Studies on lichen-dominated systems. XV. The temperature and humidity profiles in a *Cladina alpestris* mat. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 53(22), 2614-2620. https://doi.org/10.1139/b75-289
- Kiviat, E., Stevens, G., Munger, K. L., Heady, L. T., Hoeger, S., Petokas, P. J., & Brauman, R. (2004). Blanding's turtle response to wetland and upland habitat construction. In *Conservation and Ecology of Turtles of the Mid-Atlantic Region: A Symposium. Edited by CW Swarth, WM Roosenburg, and E. Kiviat. Bibliomania, Salt Lake City* (pp. 93-99).
- Kolbe, J. J., & Janzen, F. J. (2002). Impact of nest-site selection on nest success and nest temperature in natural and disturbed habitats. *Ecology*, 83(1), 269-281. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[0269:IONSSO]2.0.CO;2
- Lange, O. L. (1953). Heat and drought resistance of lichens in relation to their ecological distribution. *Flora (Jena)*, *140*, 39-97.
- Lange O.L. (2001). Photosynthesis of soil-crust biota as dependent on environmental factors. In: Belnap J., Lange O.L. (Eds.), *Biological Soil Crusts: Structure, Function, and Management* (pp. 217-240). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-56475-8_18
- Lechowicz, M. J. (1978). Carbon dioxide exchange in *Cladina* lichens from subarctic and temperate habitats. *Oecologia*, *32*(2), 225-237. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00366074

- Lesbarrères, D., Ashpole, S. L., Bishop, C. A., Blouin-Demers, G., Brooks, R. J., Echaubard, P., ... & Houlahan, J. (2014). Conservation of herpetofauna in northern landscapes: Threats and challenges from a Canadian perspective. *Biological Conservation*, 170, 48-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.12.030
- Lindo, Z., & Gonzalez, A. (2010). The bryosphere: an integral and influential component of the Earth's biosphere. *Ecosystems*, *13*(4), 612-627. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-010-9336-3
- Litzgus, J. D., & Brooks, R. J. (1998). Reproduction in a northern population of *Clemmys guttata*. Journal of Herpetology, 252-259. https://doi.org/10.2307/1565305
- Marchand, M. N., & Litvaitis, J. A. (2004a). Effects of landscape composition, habitat features, and nest distribution on predation rates of simulated turtle nests. *Biological Conservation*, *117*(3), 243-251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2003.07.003
- Marchand, M. N., & Litvaitis, J. A. (2004b). Effects of habitat features and landscape composition on the population structure of a common aquatic turtle in a region undergoing rapid development. *Conservation Biology*, 18(3), 758-767. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00019.x

- Markle, C. E., & Chow-Fraser, P. (2014). Habitat selection by the Blanding's turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) on a protected island in Georgian Bay, Lake Huron. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, 13(2), 216-226. https://doi.org/10.2744/CCB-1075.1
- Moore, P. A., Smolarz, A. G., Markle, C. E., & Waddington, J. M. (2019). Hydrological and thermal properties of moss and lichen species on rock barrens: Implications for turtle nesting habitat. *Ecohydrology*, 12(2), e2057. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.2057
- Packard, G. C., Packard, M. J., Miller, K., & Boardman, T. J. (1987). Influence of moisture, temperature, and substrate on snapping turtle eggs and embryos. *Ecology*, 68(4), 983-993. https://doi.org/10.2307/1938369
- Price, D. T., Alfaro, R. I., Brown, K. J., Flannigan, M. D., Fleming, R. A., Hogg, E. H., ... & Pedlar, J. H. (2013). Anticipating the consequences of climate change for Canada's boreal forest ecosystems. *Environmental Reviews*, 21(4), 322-365. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0042
- Roturier, S., Bäcklund, S., Sundén, M., & Bergsten, U. (2007). Influence of ground substrate on establishment of reindeer lichen after artificial dispersal. *Silva Fennica 41*(2), 269-280. http://www.metla.fi/silvafennica/full/sf41/sf412269.pdf

Roturier, S., & Bergsten, U. (2009). Establishment of *Cladonia stellaris* after artificial dispersal in an unfenced forest in northern Sweden. *Rangifer*, *29*(1), 39-49. https://doi.org/10.7557/2.29.1.208

- Schwarzkopf, L., & Brooks, R. J. (1987). Nest-site selection and offspring sex ratio in painted turtles, *Chrysemys picta*. *Copeia*, 53-61.
- Shure, D. J., & Ragsdale, H. L. (1977). Patterns of primary succession on granite outcrop surfaces. *Ecology*, 58(5), 993-1006. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936920
- Smith, D. C. (1962). The biology of lichen thalli. *Biological Reviews*, *37*(4), 537-570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.1962.tb01336.x
- Spence, C., & Woo, M. K. (2002). Hydrology of subarctic Canadian Shield: bedrock upland. Journal of Hydrology, 262(1-4), 111-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(02)00010-0
- Standing, K. L., Herman, T. B., & Morrison, I. P. (1999). Nesting ecology of Blanding's turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) in Nova Scotia, the northeastern limit of the species' range. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 77(10), 1609-1614. https://doi.org/10.1139/z99-122

- Steen, D. A., & Gibbs, J. P. (2004). Effects of roads on the structure of freshwater turtle populations. *Conservation Biology*, 18(4), 1143-1148. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00240.x
- Steen, D. A., Aresco, M. J., Beilke, S. G., Compton, B. W., Condon, E. P., Kenneth Dodd Jr, C.,
 ... & Langen, T. A. (2006). Relative vulnerability of female turtles to road mortality. *Animal Conservation*, 9(3), 269-273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2006.00032.x
- Steen, D. A., Gibbs, J. P., Buhlmann, K. A., Carr, J. L., Compton, B. W., Congdon, J. D., ... & Janzen, F. J. (2012). Terrestrial habitat requirements of nesting freshwater turtles. *Biological Conservation*, 150(1), 121-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.03.012
- Sveinbjornsson, B., & Oechel, W. C. (1983). The effect of temperature preconditioning on the temperature sensitivity of net CO₂ flux in geographically diverse populations of the moss *Polytrichum commune. Ecology*, 64(5), 1100-1108. https://doi.org/10.2307/1937820
- Trenberth, K. E., Jones, P. D., Ambenje, P., Bojariu, R., Easterling, D., Tank, A. K., ... & Soden,
 B. (2007). *Observations: Surface and Atmospheric Climate Change. Chapter 3*. United Kingdom. http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar4/wg1/ar4-wg1-chapter3.pdf
- Turetsky, M. R. (2003). The role of bryophytes in carbon and nitrogen cycling. *The bryologist*, *106*(3), 395-409. www.jstor.org/stable/3244721

- Vitt, D. H. (1990). Growth and production dynamics of boreal mosses over climatic, chemical and topographic gradients. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 104(1-3), 35-59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.1990.tb02210.x
- Vrac, M., Vaittinada Ayar, P., & Yiou, P. (2014). Trends and variability of seasonal weather regimes. *International Journal of Climatology*, 34(2), 472-480. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3700
- Walther, G. R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T. J., ... & Bairlein, F.
 (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature*, 416(6879), 389. https://doi.org/10.1038/416389a
- Walton, M., & Villeneuve, M. (1999). Ecosystem planning in Georgian Bay Islands National Park:
 A multi-jurisdictional approach. In: Second international symposium and workshop on the conservation of the eastern Massasauga rattlesnake, Sistrurus catenatus catenatus:
 Population and habitat management issues in urban, bog, prairie and forested ecosystems (pp. 81-84). Toronto, ON: Toronto Zoo.
- Withers, P. C., & Edward, D. H. (1997). Terrestrial fauna of granite outcrops in Western Australia. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia, 80, 159-166.

Zotz, G., & Kahler, H. (2007). A moss "canopy"–Small-scale differences in microclimate and physiological traits in *Tortula ruralis*. *Flora-Morphology*, *Distribution*, *Functional Ecology of Plants*, 202(8), 661-666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.flora.2007.05.002
Chapter 2: Ecohydrological controls on rock barrens lichen and moss CO₂ exchange: Implications for primary soil formation and turtle nesting habitat

Danielle T. Hudson¹, Chantel E. Markle¹, Lorna I. Harris², James M. Waddington¹

¹School of Earth, Environment and Society, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

²Department of Renewable Resources, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

Presented in manuscript format and currently under review, Ecohydrology.

Abstract

Lichens and mosses are among the first organisms to colonize the open bedrock of eastern Georgian Bay, Ontario making them essential for primary soil formation and ecosystem succession, while also providing nesting habitat for turtle species-at-risk. However, the slow growing nature of lichen and moss makes them vulnerable to ecohydrological stresses caused by climate and land-use change. In order to better understand how lichen and moss will respond to stressors, we identified which ecohydrological factors (*e.g.* soil moisture and temperature) control the CO₂ exchange of lichen (*Cladonia* spp.) and moss (*Polytrichum* spp.) on rock barrens and the time of year growth primarily occurs. Our results indicate that soil moisture is a critical control on the CO₂ exchange of lichen and moss, and this relationship varies among cover types. Net ecosystem productivity (NEP) was significantly greater in the wet period of the growing season than the dry, with an estimated difference of $0.7 \,\mu$ mol m⁻²s⁻¹ for lichen, 2.9 μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹ for moss, and 2.5 μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹ for a moss and lichen mix. These findings indicate that the wet portions of the growing season are critical for growth, while lichen and moss have little to no productivity during

the dry period. For the geographical regions where warm, dry conditions are expected to increase in duration and frequency with climate change, lichen and moss NEP will likely decrease, resulting in a slower soil accumulation rate, thus limiting the availability of nesting habitat for turtle speciesat-risk.

Introduction

Lichen- and moss-dominated bedrock depressions and crevices within rock barrens landscapes are critical for ecosystem integrity and succession (Bowker, 2007; Lange, 2001). The initial colonization of bare rock by lichen and moss is vital for primary soil formation, the establishment of more complex vegetation, and the maintenance of open canopy habitats. These lichen- and moss-dominated areas with shallow soils also provide critical habitat for many reptile species-at-risk, including natural nesting habitat for turtles on the rock barrens landscape (Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014). Lichen and moss cover insulates and moderates soil temperature (Kershaw & Field, 1975; Lindo & Gonzalez, 2010; Moore et al., 2019) and retains soil moisture while maintaining sufficient drainage (Moore et al., 2019), therefore providing suitable soil conditions for successful egg incubation. However, lichen and moss mats are vulnerable to ecohydrological stresses from both direct (e.g. mining, road construction, and other infrastructure development) and climate-mediated disturbance (e.g. drought, wildfire) because their relatively slow growth makes natural recovery difficult (Bowker, 2007; Smith, 1962; Smith, 2014). Knowledge of the ecohydrological controls on lichen and moss productivity and persistence is needed to inform conservation and restoration methods for these critical ecosystem components.

Rock barrens vegetation is subject to harsh ecohydrological conditions including high temperatures, limited shade, and low water availability which make it difficult for organisms to establish and for ecosystem succession to proceed (Burbanck & Platt, 1964; Keever et al., 1951). Lichen and moss are the first to colonize open rock barrens as a result of their ability to succeed under these harsh conditions (Bowker, 2007; Keever et al., 1951; Lange, 2001). For example, crustose and foliose lichens are often the first to colonize because they can withstand high heat, low moisture, and they do not require a soil substrate (Keever et al., 1951; Lange, 2001). These pioneer lichens begin the process of breaking down the bedrock and forming mineral soil (Chen et al., 2000; Jackson, 2015). Subsequently, fruticose lichens, such as *Cladonia* spp. establish and begin to accumulate soil by contributing decaying organic matter (Keever et al., 1951), trapping soil particles (Burbanck & Platt, 1964), and weathering the bedrock (Jackson, 2015). With a growth rate of approximately 5 mm per year, lichens are relatively slow growing (Smith, 1962) and their growth is controlled by their metabolic response to ecohydrological conditions (e.g. water content, temperature and light; Baldauf et al., 2018; Lange, 2001; Lechowicz, 1978; Sveinbjornsson & Oechel, 1983). Photosynthesis is the primary source of carbon for lichens, but due to ecohydrological controls and low chlorophyll content, their photosynthetic rates are lower than more complex vegetation (Smith, 1962). Lichen photosynthesis and respiration will only occur when water is available (Baldauf et al., 2018; Lange, 2001), and as such water content is critical in determining metabolic rates and where lichens are able to establish on a landscape (Lange, 2001; Smith, 1962). This is especially important for rock barrens where limited crevice water storage capacity and the fill-and-spill hydrological behaviour of these landscapes (Spence & Woo, 2002) have the potential to drive strong wet and dry period transitions. Moreover, temperature is another important control on lichen metabolic activity, although relatively little is known (Kershaw & Field, 1975; Lange, 2001).

The branched morphology of fruticose lichens enhances their ability to collect soil particles and can provide the appropriate microclimate conditions for the establishment of mosses, such as Polytrichum spp. (Burbanck & Platt, 1964; Shure & Ragsdale, 1977). Once established, mosses can further facilitate soil accumulation (Burbanck & Platt, 1964) and formation (Jackson, 2015), and moderate temperature and moisture conditions (Burbanck and Platt, 1964; Keever et al., 1951). The metabolic activity of *Polytrichum* spp. is controlled by water, light and nutrient availability (Turetsky, 2003; Vitt, 1990; Zotz & Kahler, 2007). Despite having the ability to transport water through internal and external mechanisms, *Polytrichum* spp. largely rely on precipitation (Anderson & Bourdeau, 1955; Bayfield, 1973). When water is unavailable or limited, Polytrichum leaves will close and adhere to the stem to reduce water loss (Anderson & Bourdeau, 1955; Bayfield, 1973; Corradini & Clément, 1999). Due to the moss' ability to recover from desiccation, growth can take place in spring and fall, and is often limited in the summer (Corradini & Clément, 1999). Although lichens and mosses are the dominant cover type on the rock barrens of eastern Georgian Bay, the ecohydrological controls on their CO_2 exchange have not previously been examined.

The lichen and moss mats on the Canadian Shield bedrock of the eastern Georgian Bay rock barrens, in Ontario, Canada, are vulnerable to climate and land use changes. While the eastern Georgian Bay region is less developed than other parts of Ontario (Chow-Fraser, 2006; Cvetkovic & Chow-Fraser, 2011), increasing land use change (Baxter-Gilbert et al., 2015; Walton & Villeneuve, 1999) will impact lichen and moss mats through altered hydrological flow paths and physical destruction. Furthermore, climate change is expected to impact lichen and moss mats on eastern Georgian Bay rock barrens through decreased productivity as a result of increasing frequency and duration of drought conditions (Dai et al., 2004; Price et al., 2013; Trenberth et al.,

2007) and increasing risk of wildfire (Braun et al., 2010; Wotton et al., 2017). These threats can have additional impacts on at-risk turtle species as they rely on lichen- and moss-dominated bedrock depressions and crevices for critical nesting habitat (Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014).

The objective of this research was to assess the primary ecohydrological controls (*e.g.* temperature, moisture, relative humidity) on lichen and moss productivity and respiration to advance our understanding of how they establish and persist on the landscape under varying conditions. We hypothesized that soil moisture and air temperature would be primary controls on the CO_2 exchange of lichen and moss mats on the rock barrens landscape. We also predicted that lichen and moss net ecosystem productivity would be significantly greater in the wetter period of the growing season (spring and fall) than the drier period (summer).

Methods

Study area

The Northern Ontario Barrens and Bog Ecosystems Landscape (NOBEL) in eastern Georgian Bay is characterized by wetlands and rock barrens, which provide unique ecosystems and habitat for species-at-risk. The Canadian Shield granitic bedrock of this region has an undulating surface with a pattern of valleys and uplands (Crins et al., 2009). The valleys contain large wetland complexes or beaver ponds, while the uplands are dominated by lichen and moss mats, ephemeral wetlands, and smaller permanent wetlands. Wetlands on the landscape are primarily dominated by *Sphagnum* spp. and a variety of vascular vegetation including, but not limited to, leatherleaf (*Chamaedaphne calyculata*), jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*), tamarack (*Larix laricina*), and sedges (*Carex* spp.). The upland bedrock is a non-uniform surface where small

depressions and crevices in the rock have formed as a result of mechanical and chemical erosion (Fitzsimons & Michael, 2017). It is these shallow depressions and crevices which provide nesting habitat for turtle species-at-risk in the eastern Georgian Bay region (*e.g.* Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014). These upland rock barrens are dominated by lichen (*Cladonia* spp.), moss (*Polytrichum* spp.), blueberry (*Vaccinium angustifolium*), juniper (*Juniperus communis*), and jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*). Shallow soils on the rock barrens landscape have an average bulk density of 781 ± 18 kg m⁻³ and an average organic matter content of 12 ± 0.5 %. The soils are comparable under lichen (754 ± 27 kg m⁻³, 11.7 ± 1.0 %) and moss (722 ± 30.4 kg m⁻³, 14.2 ± 1.1 %; Sandler, unpublished data).

The region has a cool-temperate and humid climate with 26-year daily average maximum and minimum air temperatures for May – October of 18.9 and 6.9 °C, respectively (Dunchurch station, ~45 km NE from site; Government of Canada, 2019). In 2019, the average air temperature from May through October was 15.2 °C, with a maximum of 33 °C and a minimum of -1.4 °C. The 26-year average cumulative rainfall from May to October is 563 mm (Government of Canada, 2019) and in 2019 the NOBEL received 531 mm in that period. The region exhibits seasonal variation in precipitation, where the 26-year average precipitation for May – June is 167.9 mm, July – August is 166.7 mm, and September – October is 224.6 mm (Government of Canada, 2019).

Production (CO₂ exchange)

We selected three lichen (*Cladonia* spp.), three mixed (*Cladonia* spp. and *Polytrichum* spp.) and three moss (*Polytrichum* spp.) plots in a confirmed turtle nesting area to assess ecohydrological controls on lichen and moss productivity and respiration. These plots were selected on lichen and moss mats which were approximately 1 m² and had minimal vascular plant

cover (< 30%). To ensure all plots could be considered potential turtle nesting habitat, average soil depth ranged from 8–15 cm (Markle et al., 2020) and canopy openness was \geq 65% (*e.g.* Riley et al., 2014, Markle unpublished data).

Between May and October 2019, we measured CO₂ exchange at the nine plots using a closed static chamber (diameter = 10 cm, height = 15 cm, volume = 1.18 L) and an infrared gas analyzer (EGM-5, PP Systems, Massachusetts, USA) on permanent circular PVC collars (diameter = 10 cm, height = 15 cm). We measured the change in CO₂ concentration within the chamber over a 90-second period. CO₂ and photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD; μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹) were recorded every 5 seconds for 90 seconds. PPFD was measured using a quantum meter (MQ-200, Apogee Instruments, Utah, USA). Measurements were taken under full, dark and half-light conditions using no shroud, opaque, or sheer shrouds, respectively. Chamber temperature and relative humidity were measured every 10 seconds using an iButton (Type 23, Alpha Mach, Quebec, Canada). At each plot measurements were taken on 41 different days between 8:00 and 16:00 from 8 May to 17 October 2019.

We calculated CO₂ flux using a linear regression of the change in CO₂ concentration over the measurement period as a function of chamber volume and collar area (Pirk et al., 2016). Measurements with an R^2 value less than 0.5 were checked for error and removed if necessary (13% of measurements removed; cf. Harris et al., 2018). Net ecosystem productivity (NEP) was defined as the sum of ecosystem respiration (ER) and gross primary productivity (GPP). Here we use the sign convention where a positive CO₂ flux represents uptake by the lichen and moss, and a negative flux represents a release of CO₂ to the atmosphere. ER was calculated from the CO₂ flux under dark conditions. GPP was calculated by subtracting ER from NEP. Negative GPP values were removed (31 of 358 measurements). We used SigmaPlot (V.14, Systat Software Inc.) to fit a rectangular hyperbola model to compare the GPP-PPFD relationship between cover type and season (Bubier et al., 1998; Frolking et al., 1998). For each curve we determined the initial slope (α) and asymptote (GPP_{max}) parameters.

Decomposition

To estimate lichen and moss decay rates, samples were collected in spring 2015, cleaned of other litter and soil, dried, weighed, and placed into pre-sown 0.01 x 0.012 m nylon mesh litter bags (mesh size 300 μ m). Litter bags (n = 121) containing ~3 g (dry weight) of lichen (*Cladonia* spp.) or moss (*Polytrichum* spp.) were buried at a depth of 1 cm in rock barrens lichen and moss mats in June 2015. In June 2016, 79 of the litter bags were collected and weighed to determine the decomposition of the lichen and moss during this time period (12 months). The remaining 42 litter bags were collected in June 2017, to estimate decomposition over a 24-month period. We expressed decomposition as the percent of mass lost (K) over one or two years, respectively (Rochefort et al., 1990). We also estimated relative differences in decomposition between cover types during the 2019 growing season using the tea bag method outlined by Keuskamp et al. (2013). We measured the initial weight of green and rooibos tea bags and then buried them 8 cm below the soil surface of each of our 9 plots. After 90 days we removed the tea bags, cleaned the outer bag of dirt and plant matter, and dried them at 60 °C for 48 hours. Once dry, we re-weighed them to determine percent of mass lost (K).

Soil moisture and temperature

Continuous soil volumetric water content (VWC) and soil temperature were measured at a depth of 5 cm at all nine NEP (CO₂ exchange) plots during the 2019 growing season (8 May - 17

October). Soil VWC was measured every 15 minutes using a HOBO soil moisture smart sensor (0.05 m probe length, 0.3 L volume of influence, Onset HOBO S-SMxpM005, Massachusetts, USA) and logged using a HOBO Micro Station data logger (Onset HOBO H21-USB). Soil VWC probes were calibrated for NOBEL rock barrens soils according to Starr and Paltineanu (2002). Soil temperature was measured hourly using an iButton (iBWetland Type G). Temperature data were interpolated to 15-minute intervals to align with the soil VWC measurements. Air temperature, precipitation and relative humidity were measured every 30 minutes at a meteorological station within 100 m of the sites.

Analyses

We conducted all statistical analyses in R 3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019). We used a breakpoint analysis of cumulative rainfall (Figure S2.1) to define a wet and dry period within the study duration (8 May – 17 October 2019). Using this approach, we defined the wet season as the start of data collection (8 May) to 24 June and 1 September to the end of data collection (17 October). The dry season began 25 June and ended 31 August. We grouped spring and fall into a single wet season because we had a limited sample size for spring (10 days) and fall (7 days) individually, in comparison to the summer season (24 days).



Figure S2.1. Breakpoint analysis of cumulative rainfall (mm) indicating that the dry season began on 25 June 2019 and ended on 31 August 2019.

To determine if mean daily soil temperatures, NEP (n = 358), ER (n = 358), and GPP (n = 327) were different between season (wet, dry) and among cover types (lichen, mixed, moss), we fit a linear mixed effects model (LMM; *lme4*, Bates et al., 2015) with plot number as a random effect to account for repeated measurements. We fit a generalized linear mixed effects model (GLMM, gamma distribution and log link; *lme4*, Bates et al., 2015) to compare mean daily soil VWC (values ranged between 0-1) with season (wet, dry) and cover type (lichen, mixed, moss) as fixed effects and plot number as a random effect to account for repeated measurements. We used a Kruskal-Wallis test, and when necessary a pairwise Wilcox test, to identify significant differences in litter bag and tea bag decomposition.

In order to determine which ecohydrological factors had the greatest effect on the fluxes we used linear mixed effects models. The NEP, ER and GPP data were approximately normally distributed and the Q-Q plots followed the straight line reasonably well. Generalized variance inflation factors for all fixed effects were less than three, therefore no parameters were excluded based on multi-collinearity. We tested linear mixed effect models with a combination of cover type (lichen, mixed, moss), soil VWC, soil temperature, air temperature and air relative humidity, as fixed effects, and included plot number as a random effect to account for repeated measures. The models were fit using maximum likelihood and compared using an ANOVA. To select the best model, we considered the Akaike's Information Criterion, correlation of fixed effects, relative size of the estimates and covariance of fixed effects. Unless otherwise stated, standard errors are reported.

Results

Soil moisture and temperature

From May – June and September – October the soil VWC was consistently higher than July – August (Figure 2.1). In July and August soil VWC declined overall with peaks during rainfall followed by rapid drying (Figure 2.1). The soil VWC ranged from 0.12 to 0.58 m³ m⁻³ in the wet period (8 May – 24 June, 1 September – 17 October) and from 0 to 0.48 $m^3 m^{-3}$ in the dry period (25 June – 31 August). Soil VWC in the wet period was double the VWC in the dry period with a daily mean soil VWC of 0.40 ± 0.1 m³ m⁻³ standard deviation in the wet season and $0.17 \pm$ 0.09 m³ m⁻³ standard deviation in the dry season (GLMM, estimate [est.] = 0.8 ± 0.02 , t = 35.5, p ≤ 0.001). During both seasons, soil VWC was comparable between lichen and mixed (GLMM, est. = 0.01 ± 0.17 , t = 0.09, p = 0.92) and between lichen and moss plots (GLMM, est. = $0.02 \pm$ 0.17, t = 0.11, p = 0.91). Furthermore, soil VWC did not differ between mixed and moss plots (GLMM, est. = 0.002 ± 0.12 , t = 0.02, p = 0.99). Between 8 May and 17 October, the soil temperature was cooler in the wet periods (May - June, September - October) and warmer in the dry period (July – August; Figure 2.2). Daily average soil temperature, at a depth of 5 cm, was approximately 8 °C cooler in the wet period than the dry period (LMM, est. = -7.95 ± 0.15 , t = -51.06, $p \le 0.001$) with a mean of 15.9 ± 3 °C standard deviation and 23.8 ± 2.6 °C standard deviation, respectively. Across both periods, the daily average soil temperature did not differ between lichen and mixed plots (LMM, est. = 0.61 ± 0.43 , t = 1.41, p = 0.22). The moss plots had a cooler mean soil temperature than lichen by 1.3 °C (LMM, est. = -1.27 ± 0.43 , t = -2.92, p =0.03) and mixed plots by 1.9 °C (LMM, est. = -1.88 ± 0.42 , t = -4.47, p = 0.01).



Figure 2.1. Mean soil volumetric water content (VWC; $m^3 m^{-3} \pm$ standard deviation) measured every 15 minutes, at a depth of 5 cm, from May to October 2019 at lichen (a, n = 3), mixed (b, n = 3), and moss plots (c, n = 3). Dashed lines denote the wet (8 May to 24 June; 1 September to 17 October) and dry (25 June to 31 August) seasons as determined by a breakpoint analysis of cumulative rainfall (Figure S2.1).



Figure 2.2. Mean soil temperature (°C \pm standard deviation) measured hourly and interpolated to every 15 minutes, at a depth of 5 cm, from May to October 2019 at lichen (a, n = 2), mixed (b, n = 3), and moss plots (c, n = 3). Dashed lines denote the wet (8 May to 24 June; 1 September to 17 October) and dry (25 June to 31 August) seasons as determined by a breakpoint analysis of cumulative rainfall (Figure S2.1).

Production (CO₂ exchange)

The total mean NEP was greater in the wet season than the dry season for all cover types (Figure 2.3), with an estimated difference (wet vs. dry) in NEP of $0.7 \pm 0.1 \,\mu\text{mol}\,\text{m}^{-2}\,\text{s}^{-1}$ for lichen (LMM, t = -5.1, $p \le 0.001$), $2.5 \pm 0.2 \ \mu \text{mol m}^{-2}\text{s}^{-1}$ for mixed (LMM, t = -11.7, $p \le 0.001$) and 2.9 \pm 0.3 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹ for moss (LMM, t = -9.95, $p \le 0.001$). The ER of lichen plots was not significantly different between wet and dry seasons, with a difference of $0.09 \pm 0.1 \mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1}$ (LMM, t = 0.9, p = 0.37; Figure 2.3). The ER was greater in the wet season than the dry season, with a difference of $0.5 \pm 0.2 \text{ }\mu\text{mol }\text{m}^{-2}\text{ }\text{s}^{-1}$ for mixed plots (LMM, t = -3.25, $p \le 0.001$) and $0.7 \pm$ 0.2 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for moss plots (LMM, t = -3.8, $p \le 0.001$; Figure 2.3). All cover types had a greater mean GPP in the wet season than the dry season, where lichen differed by $0.5 \pm 0.1 \mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1}$ (LMM, $t = 3.6, p \le 0.001$), mixed by $2.7 \pm 0.3 \mu \text{mol m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (LMM, $t = 8.31, p \le 0.001$) and moss by $3.2 \pm 0.4 \mu \text{mol m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (LMM, t = 7.6, $p \le 0.001$; Figure 2.3). In addition, across both seasons the CO₂ fluxes differed between cover types (Figure 2.3). Mixed and moss plots had a 1.6 ± 0.4 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (LMM, $t = 4.4, p \le 0.001$) and $1.4 \pm 0.4 \mu$ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (LMM, $t = 3.91, p \le 0.001$) difference in NEP respectively compared to lichens. Mixed ER was greater than lichen by $0.4 \pm$ 0.1 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (LMM, t = -3.5, $p \le 0.001$) and moss ER was greater than lichen by $0.7 \pm 0.1 \mu$ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (LMM, t = -5.63, $p \le 0.001$). Finally, mixed plots had a difference in GPP of $2.3 \pm 0.4 \mu$ mol $m^{-2} s^{-1}$ (LMM, t = 5.73, $p \le 0.001$) and moss had a difference of $2.5 \pm 0.4 \mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1}$ (LMM, t =6.23, $p \le 0.001$) when compared to lichen plots. Mixed and moss plots did not have significantly different NEP, ER or GPP (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3. Mean net ecosystem productivity (NEP), ecosystem respiration (ER), and gross primary productivity (GPP) fluxes (\pm 95% confidence intervals) for lichen (a), mixed (b), and moss (c) plots in the wet (lichen n = 59, mixed n = 63, moss n = 58) and dry (lichen n = 49, mixed n = 55, moss n = 74) periods from 8 May to 17 October 2019. GPP sample size differed from NEP and ER for the wet (lichen n = 59, mixed n = 63, moss n = 58) and dry (lichen n = 44, mixed n = 44, moss n = 59) periods after removal of negative values.

The GPP-PPFD relationship had a worse fit under dry conditions compared to wet conditions for all cover types (Figure 2.4). During the wet period, the lichen plots had a smaller initial slope and maximum GPP ($\alpha = 20.3$, GPP_{max} = 0.79) than both mixed ($\alpha = 307.14$, GPP_{max} = 5.41) and moss ($\alpha = 281.0$, GPP_{max} = 6.52). Under dry conditions, lichen maintained a smaller initial slope and maximum GPP ($\alpha = -44.72$, GPP_{max} = 0.37) than mixed ($\alpha = 69.1$, GPP_{max} = 1.24) and moss plots ($\alpha = 372.42$, GPP_{max} = 1.94). The measured data vary greatly around the curve, which results in a poor curve fit in all instances (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. Relationship between incoming photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD, μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹) and gross primary productivity (GPP, μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹) for lichen (a) during the wet (red line, n = 125, $\alpha = 20.3$, GPP_{max} = 0.79, R² = 0.006) and dry period (grey line, n = 82, $\alpha = -44.72$, GPP_{max} = 0.37, R² = 0.004), mixed (b) during the wet (red line, n = 122, $\alpha = 307.14$, GPP_{max} = 5.41, R² = 0.3) and dry period (grey line, n = 79, $\alpha = 69.1$, GPP_{max} = 1.24, R² = 0.003), and moss (c) during the wet (red line, n = 113, $\alpha = 281.02$, GPP_{max} = 6.52, R² = 0.4) and dry period (grey line, n = 97, $\alpha = 372.42$, GPP_{max} = 1.94, R² = 0.01). GPP and PPFD calculated from field CO₂ and PPFD measurements for lichen (a), mixed (b), and moss (c) during the wet (red points) and dry (grey points) periods.

Ecohydrological controls

Cover type, soil VWC and their interaction had the greatest effect on NEP, ER and GPP (Table 2.1). The slope of the predicted response of NEP to increasing soil VWC was greater by 7.1 \pm 1.2 (LMM, t = 5.96, $p \le 0.001$) for mixed than lichen, 7.7 \pm 1.1 (LMM, t = 6.92, $p \le 0.001$) for moss than lichen, and 0.6 ± 1.1 (LMM, t = 0.56, p = 0.58) for moss than mixed (Figure 2.5). The predicted response of ER to increasing soil VWC had a greater slope of -1.7 ± 0.8 (LMM, t = -2.06, p = 0.041) for mixed when compared to lichen, -1.9 ± 0.8 (LMM, t = -2.46, p = 0.02) for moss when compared to lichen, and of -0.2 ± 0.8 (LMM, t = -0.24, p = 0.81) for moss when compared to mixed (Figure 2.5). The slope of the predicted response of mixed GPP to increasing soil VWC was greater than that of lichen by 8.8 ± 1.6 (LMM, t = 5.65, $p \le 0.001$), moss was greater than lichen by 9.5 ± 1.4 (LMM, t = 6.58, $p \le 0.001$), and moss was greater than mixed by 0.75 ± 1.4 (LMM, t = 0.52, p = 0.60; Figure 2.5).

	Fixed effects	Estimate	Std. error	df	t value	$p(\geq t)$
NEP	Intercept	-0.8	0.4	31.6	-1.80	0.08
	Mixed	-1.1	0.6	28.4	-1.82	0.08
	Moss	-1.2	0.5	22.8	-2.11	0.05
	VWC	1.9	0.9	297.9	2.06	0.04
	Mixed: VWC	7.1	1.2	320.7	5.96	\leq 0.001
	Moss: VWC	7.7	1.1	314.4	6.92	\leq 0.001
ER	Intercept	-0.6	0.3	50.6	-2.23	0.03
	Mixed	0.2	0.3	61	0.67	0.5
	Moss	-0.02	0.3	44.2	-0.09	0.93
	VWC	-0.7	0.6	173.4	-1.04	0.30
	Mixed: VWC	-1.7	0.8	246.1	-2.06	0.04
	Moss: VWC	-1.9	0.8	215.9	-2.46	0.01
GPP	Intercept	-0.2	0.6	33.3	-0.44	0.66
	Mixed	-1.3	0.7	30.2	-1.70	0.1
	Moss	-1.1	0.7	24.2	-1.58	0.12
	VWC	2.7	1.2	292.4	2.21	0.03
	Mixed: VWC	8.8	1.5	318.4	5.65	\leq 0.001
	Moss: VWC	9.5	1.4	311.1	6.58	\leq 0.001

Table 2.1. Results from the linear mixed effects models for net ecosystem productivity (NEP), ecosystem respiration (ER), and gross primary productivity (GPP, n = 336).



Figure 2.5. Predicted response of (a) net ecosystem productivity (NEP), (b) ecosystem respiration (ER), and (c) gross primary productivity (GPP) to increasing soil volumetric water content (VWC; $m^3 m^{-3} \pm 95\%$ confidence intervals) according to the linear mixed effects models for lichen (grey solid line), mixed (red dotted line), and moss plots (black dashed line). NEP (a), ER (b), and GPP (c) calculated from field CO₂ measurements for lichen (grey points), mixed (red points), and moss plots (black points).

Decomposition

After one year of decomposition, the average mass lost (K) was not significantly different between cover types, where lichen K was 18.0 ± 1.2 % and moss K was 18.6 ± 0.8 % ($\chi^{2}_{1,79} = 0.24, p = 0.62$; Figure 2.6). Conversely, the set of litter bags that were removed after two years had a significantly greater K value for lichen (27.4 ± 1.7 %) than for moss (20.5 ± 1.9 %; $\chi^{2}_{1,42} = 5.64$, p = 0.02; Figure 2.6). Lichen had a significantly greater mean K value after two years (27.4 ± 1.7 %) when compared to one year (18.0 ± 1.3 %; $\chi^{2}_{1,42} = 13.17, p \le 0.001$; Figure 2.6), while moss had similar mean K values after one (18.6 ± 0.8 %) and two (20.5 ± 1.9 %) years ($\chi^{2}_{1,79} = 0.81, p$ = 0.37; Figure 2.6). From the 2019 tea bag data, we determined that K was not significantly different between cover types ($\chi^{2}_{3,14} = 0.93, p = 0.82$).



Figure 2.6. Mass lost (%) between (a) 2015-2016 and (b) 2015-2017 for lichen (2016, n = 28; 2017, n = 14) and moss (2016, n = 51; 2017, n = 28) fragments.

Discussion

We determined that the wetter portion of the growing season (May – June, September – October; Figure 2.1) was critical for CO₂ uptake by lichen and moss on the rock barrens landscape. In the wet season lichen, mixed and moss plots had a difference in NEP of +0.68, +2.57 and +2.87 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ when compared to the dry season, respectively (Figure 2.3). GPP was greater in the wet season than the dry season by 0.5 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for lichen, 2.8 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for mixed and 3.1 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for moss (Figure 2.3). Ecosystem respiration (ER) was also greater in the wet season for mixed and moss but did not differ for lichen plots (Figure 2.3). The differences in CO₂ fluxes between seasons indicate that the wet periods of the growing season (spring and fall) are critical for lichen and moss growth on the rock barrens landscape, while there is no growth in the dry period (summer; Figure 2.3).

Our findings highlight the unique water storage dynamics of lichen and moss on rock barrens landscapes. Vascular plants and *Sphagnum* moss in peatlands (Bubier et al., 1998; Carroll & Crill, 1997; Frolking et al. 1998) and forest floor species (Botting & Fredeen, 2006; Swanson & Flanagan, 2001), are able to maintain productivity throughout the growing season if water remains available. However, rock barrens soil depressions have limited water storage capacity, and the lichen and moss have a high dependence on summer precipitation; whereas, moss and lichen in peatlands and forests benefit from higher water storage capacity and more favourable climate conditions in these ecosystems. Timing of peak productivity for lichen and moss on rock barrens is more similar to cryptogams in desert ecosystems where peak NEP is directly tied to precipitation (Kappen & Valladares, 1999). Our results confirm that the wet season (spring and fall) is critical for the productivity of lichen and moss to recover from desiccation allows them to have two growth periods in a year (Corradini & Clément, 1999). Studies from other landscapes have found that fall can be a period of peak productivity and summer can be a period of limited CO₂ uptake (Heijmans et al., 2004; Kappen & Valladares, 1999; Lange, 2003; Zotz & Rottenberger, 2001), and this is supported by our findings from the eastern Georgian Bay rock barrens. Lange (2003) found lichens to have longer metabolically active periods in the autumn, and shorter periods in the summer and winter. Similarly, Zotz and Rottenberger (2001) studied three species of moss (although none were *Polytrichum* spp.) and found that CO₂ exchange was largely seasonal, with the highest uptake in fall and neutral CO₂ exchange in the summer.

In our study area of eastern Georgian Bay, air temperature and precipitation are expected to increase with climate change (Mortsch et al., 2000; Notaro et al., 2015; Price et al., 2013; Trenberth et al., 2011). The warm dry conditions, which are characteristic of summer months (July and August; Figure 2.1, Figure 2.2) in the northern hemisphere, are beginning earlier and finishing later in the year (Trenberth et al., 2007; Vrac et al., 2014; Walther et al., 2002). Furthermore, drought frequency and severity are expected to increase (Dai et al., 2004; Price et al., 2013; Trenberth et al., 2007). As our findings illustrate, dry conditions can result in a net loss of CO₂ for lichens and a lower or neutral CO₂ uptake for moss and mixed plots. Given our results, we would expect that an increase in air temperatures and a decrease in water availability will lead to a decline in lichen and moss productivity on the eastern Georgian Bay rock barrens. The seasonal trends in the lichen and moss CO₂ exchange suggest that lichens are more sensitive than mosses to low moisture conditions and as a result the decline in productivity would not be equal between cover types.

The seasonal pattern in CO_2 exchange that we found can be largely explained by the fact that lichen and moss productivity on the rock barrens landscape was controlled by cover type and soil volumetric water content (VWC; Figure 2.5). As expected, the predicted response of net ecosystem productivity (NEP), ecosystem respiration (ER) and gross primary productivity (GPP) to changes in soil VWC differs between lichen, mixed and moss mats (Figure 2.5). Our results show that the predicted response of lichen to increasing soil VWC is significantly different from that of mixed and moss (Table 2.1), while the mixed and moss plots are not different from each other (Figure 2.5; Table 2.1). Our findings are consistent with trends in other landscapes, where researchers have shown that the CO_2 fluxes of lichen and moss are controlled by soil water and temperature (Baldauf et al., 2018; Grote et al., 2010; Lechowicz, 1978). Furthermore, our finding of lichen and moss responding differently is supported in the literature. Previous studies have found that lichens have lower carbon assimilation rates relative to mosses and vascular plants (Smith, 1962), which can explain the lower increase in CO₂ flux as soil VWC increases (Figure 2.5). Mosses are also better able to transport water (Bayfield, 1973; Moore et al., 2019), which explains why we saw greater CO_2 fluxes at lower soil VWC for mosses than lichens. These model results are further supported by our analysis of the GPP-PPFD relationship, which illustrates lichen's lower light-use efficiency when compared to mixed and moss plots (Figure 2.4). The GPP-PPFD relationship also illustrates our finding of soil moisture being an important control on GPP since the curves are lower for the dry period than the wet period for all cover types (Figure 2.4).

Climate change is expected to alter moisture conditions globally, and as such we can expect that the CO₂ fluxes of lichen and moss will also change (Baldauf et al., 2018; Grote et al., 2010). On the rock barrens this shift will be exacerbated by the limited water storage capacity of bedrock crevices (Spence & Woo, 2002). The fill-and-spill nature of the bedrock landscape leads to rapid drying and limited soil water during dry periods (Spence & Woo, 2002). Given these landscape properties and the predicted future climate conditions for eastern Georgian Bay region we expect lichens will have a neutral or negative NEP, while mosses would maintain a small positive or neutral NEP. Our findings suggest that mosses will be able to maintain CO₂ uptake at a lower soil VWC than lichens. Consequently, as conditions become drier the lichen mats will likely halt productivity earlier than the moss mats, reducing their annual growth. Moreover, a decline in precipitation events could further reduce the ability of lichen to recover from disturbance (Davidson et al., 2002; Smith, 2014). If the soil VWC dries to a point where lichens become dormant and mosses remain productive, the mosses would be able to continue growing while the lichens would not. If lichen growth is limited, while mosses are still able to take up CO₂, we would expect to see an increase in the extent of moss mats and there would be a potential for mosses to become more dominant on the landscape. This shift could be problematic as lichens are often the first to colonize open rock and lichen mats provide suitable nesting habitat for turtle species-atrisk (Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014). In addition, lichen and moss both play a critical role in primary soil development and a decline in metabolic activity could reduce the available soil on the landscape, further limiting suitable nesting habitat.

Implications for primary soil formation and nesting habitat

The differences in CO₂ response to changing soil VWC between cover types are important to consider under future climate scenarios and with regards to turtle species-at-risk habitat. While lichens and mosses respond differently to fewer precipitation events, CO₂ exchange will likely be reduced for both, and this has implications for primary soil formation on the rock barrens landscape. On granitic bedrock, lichens and mosses significantly increase the rate of chemical weathering and soil formation, but this is driven by their metabolic activity (Chen et al., 2000; Gehrmann et al., 1988; Jackson, 2015). A decline in metabolic activity with climate change would reduce both chemical weathering of bedrock and organic soil accumulation. A decrease in soil formation on the landscape would hinder establishment of vascular vegetation and limit development of deeper soils required for turtle nesting sites. The predicted increase in air temperature and decrease in water availability (Croley, 1990; Mortsch et al., 2000; Notaro et al., 2015; d'Orgeville et al., 2014), combined with the low storage capacity of shallow bedrock depressions (Spence & Woo, 2002), could limit future increases in the extent of lichen mats on rock barrens landscapes. Since lichens play a key role in moderating soil temperatures and soil moisture retention (Moore et al., 2019; Shure & Ragsdale, 1977) changes in mat coverage and distribution could impact the suitability of shallow soil deposits as turtle nest sites.

Acknowledgements

This research was carried out in the Georgian Bay Biosphere, a UNESCO biosphere reserve, situated within the Robinson-Huron Treaty of 1850 and Williams Treaty of 1923, and located on Anishinabek territory. This research was funded by a NSERC (Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada) Discovery Grant awarded to JMW. We would like to thank Hope Freeman, Alexandra Tekatch, Taylor North, Gregory Verkaik, Renée McDonald, Kieran Lehan, Alex Furukawa, and Kayla Wong for assistance in the field. We would like to thank all members of the Ecohydrology Lab for their support and insight. Furthermore, we would like to thank Alanna Smolarz for conducting the litter bag experiment and Paul Moore for analysis and research design advice. Lastly, we would like to thank the anonymous reviewer and review editor for providing comments and suggestions.

Literature cited

- Anderson, L. E., & Bourdeau, P. F. (1955). Water relations in two species of terrestrial mosses. *Ecology*, 36(2), 206-212. https://doi.org/10.2307/1933226
- Baldauf, S., de Guevara, M. L., Maestre, F. T., & Tietjen, B. (2018). Soil moisture dynamics under two rainfall frequency treatments drive early spring CO₂ gas exchange of lichen-dominated biocrusts in central Spain. *PeerJ*, 6, e5904. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.5904
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models
 Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1-48.
 https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Baxter-Gilbert, J. H., Riley, J. L., Lesbarrères, D., & Litzgus, J. D. (2015). Mitigating reptile road mortality: fence failures compromise ecopassage effectiveness. *PLos one*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120537
- Bayfield, N. G. (1973). Notes on water relations of Polytrichum commune Hedw. *Journal of Bryology*, 7(4), 607-617. https://doi.org/10.1179/jbr.1973.7.4.607
- Botting, R. S., & Fredeen, A. L. (2006). Net ecosystem CO₂ exchange for moss and lichen dominated forest floors of old-growth sub-boreal spruce forests in central British Columbia, Canada. *Forest ecology and management*, 235(1-3), 240-251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.08.332

- Bowker, M. A. (2007). Biological soil crust rehabilitation in theory and practice: an underexploited opportunity. *Restoration Ecology*, 15(1), 13-23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2006.00185.x
- Braun, W. J., Jones, B. L., Lee, J. S., Woolford, D. G., & Wotton, B. M. (2010). Forest fire risk assessment: an illustrative example from Ontario, Canada. *Journal of Probability and Statistics*, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/823018
- Bubier, J. L., Crill, P. M., Moore, T. R., Savage, K., & Varner, R. K. (1998). Seasonal patterns and controls on net ecosystem CO₂ exchange in a boreal peatland complex. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 12(4), 703-714. https://doi.org/10.1029/98GB02426
- Burbanck, M. P., & Platt, R. B. (1964). Granite outcrop communities of the Piedmont Plateau in Georgia. *Ecology*, 45(2), 292-306. https://doi.org/10.2307/1933842
- Carroll, P., & Crill, P. (1997). Carbon balance of a temperate poor fen. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 11*(3), 349-356. https://doi.org/10.1029/97GB01365
- Chen, J., Blume, H. P., & Beyer, L. (2000). Weathering of rocks induced by lichen colonization a review. *Catena*, 39(2), 121-146. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0341-8162(99)00085-5

- Chow-Fraser, P. (2006). Development of the Water Quality Index (WQI) to assess effects of basinwide land-use alteration on coastal marshes of the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Coastal wetlands of the Laurentian Great Lakes: health, habitat and indicators*, 137-185.
- Corradini, P., & Clément, B. (1999). Growth pattern and modular reiteration of a hardy coloniser *Polytrichum commune* Hedw. *Plant Ecology*, *143*(1), 67-76. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009837430348
- Crins, W. J., Gray, P. A., Uhlig, P. W. C., & Wester, M.C. (2009). The ecosystems of Ontario, part
 I: ecozones and ecoregions. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources.
 https://www.ontario.ca/page/ecosystems-ontario-part-1-ecozones-and-ecoregions
- Croley, T. E. (1990). Laurentian Great Lakes double-CO 2 climate change hydrological impacts. Climatic Change, 17(1), 27-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00148999</u>
- Cvetkovic, M., & Chow-Fraser, P. (2011). Use of ecological indicators to assess the quality of Great Lakes coastal wetlands. *Ecological Indicators*, 11(6), 1609-1622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.04.005
- Dai, A., Trenberth, K. E., & Qian, T. (2004). A global dataset of Palmer Drought Severity Index for 1870–2002: Relationship with soil moisture and effects of surface warming. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 5(6), 1117-1130. https://doi.org/10.1175/JHM-386.1

- Davidson, D. W., Bowker, M., George, D., Phillips, S. L., & Belnap, J. (2002). Treatment effects on performance of N-fixing lichens in disturbed soil crusts of the Colorado Plateau. *Ecological Applications*, 12(5), 1391-1405. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2002)012[1391:TEOPON]2.0.CO;2
- Fitzsimons, J. A., & Michael, D. R. (2017). Rocky outcrops: a hard road in the conservation of critical habitats. *Biological Conservation*, 211, 36-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.11.019
- Frolking, S. E., Bubier, J. L., Moore, T. R., Ball, T., Bellisario, L. M., Bhardwaj, A., ... & Roulet, N. T. (1998). Relationship between ecosystem productivity and photosynthetically active radiation for northern peatlands. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 12(1), 115-126. https://doi.org/10.1029/97GB03367
- Gehrmann, C., Krumbein, W. E., & Petersen, K. (1988). Lichen weathering activities on mineral and rock surfaces. *Studia Geobotanica* 8, 33-45. http://hdl.handle.net/10077/15127
- Government of Canada. (2019). Canadian Climate Normals 1981-2010 [Dunchurch]. https://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate_normals/index_e.html
- Grote, E. E., Belnap, J., Housman, D. C., & Sparks, J. P. (2010). Carbon exchange in biological soil crust communities under differential temperatures and soil water contents: implications

for global change. *Global Change Biology*, *16*(10), 2763-2774. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02201.x

- Harris, L. I., Moore, T. R., Roulet, N. T., & Pinsonneault, A. J. (2018). Lichens: A limit to peat growth? *Journal of Ecology*, *106*(6), 2301-2319. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12975
- Heijmans, M. M., Arp, W. J., & Chapin III, F. S. (2004). Carbon dioxide and water vapour exchange from understory species in boreal forest. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, *123*(3-4), 135-147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2003.12.006
- Jackson, T. A. (2015). Weathering, secondary mineral genesis, and soil formation caused by lichens and mosses growing on granitic gneiss in a boreal forest environment. *Geoderma*, 251, 78-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.03.012
- Kappen, L., & Valladares, F. (1999). Opportunistic growth and desiccation tolerance: the ecological success of poikilohydrous autotrophs. In F. Pugnaire & F. Valladares (Eds.), Handbook of Functional Plant Ecology (pp. 9- 80). New York, NY: Marcel Dekker Inc.
- Keever, C., Oosting, H. J., & Anderson, L. E. (1951). Plant succession on exposed granite of rocky face mountain, Alexander County, North Carolina. *Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club*, 78. 401-421. https://doi. org/10.2307/2482020

- Kershaw, K. A., & Field, G. F. (1975). Studies on lichen-dominated systems. XV. The temperature and humidity profiles in a *Cladina alpestris* mat. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 53(22), 2614-2620. https://doi.org/10.1139/b75-289
- Keuskamp, J. A., Dingemans, B. J., Lehtinen, T., Sarneel, J. M., & Hefting, M. M. (2013). Tea Bag Index: a novel approach to collect uniform decomposition data across ecosystems. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(11), 1070-1075. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12097
- Lange O.L. (2001). Photosynthesis of soil-crust biota as dependent on environmental factors. In: Belnap J., Lange O.L. (Eds.), *Biological Soil Crusts: Structure, Function, and Management* (pp. 217-240). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-56475-8_18
- Lange, O. L. (2003). Photosynthetic productivity of the epilithic lichen *Lecanora muralis*: longterm field monitoring of CO₂ exchange and its physiological interpretation: II. Diel and seasonal patterns of net photosynthesis and respiration. *Flora-Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants, 198*(1), 55-70. https://doi.org/10.1078/0367-2530-00076
- Lechowicz, M. J. (1982). Ecological trends in lichen photosynthesis. *Oecologia*, 53(3), 330-336. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00389009

- Lindo, Z., & Gonzalez, A. (2010). The bryosphere: an integral and influential component of the Earth's biosphere. *Ecosystems*, *13*(4), 612-627. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-010-9336-3
- Litzgus, J. D., & Brooks, R. J. (1998). Reproduction in a northern population of *Clemmys guttata*. Journal of Herpetology, 252-259. https://doi.org/10.2307/1565305
- Markle, C. E., & Chow-Fraser, P. (2014). Habitat selection by the Blanding's turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) on a protected island in Georgian Bay, Lake Huron. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, 13(2), 216-226. https://doi.org/10.2744/CCB-1075.1
- Markle, C. E., Wilkinson S. L., & Waddington, J. M. (2020). Initial impacts of wildfire on turtle nesting habitat. *Journal of wildlife management*. JWM-19-0415. In press.
- Moore, P. A., Smolarz, A. G., Markle, C. E., & Waddington, J. M. (2019). Hydrological and thermal properties of moss and lichen species on rock barrens: Implications for turtle nesting habitat. *Ecohydrology*, 12(2), e2057. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.2057
- Mortsch, L., Hengeveld, H., Lister, M., Wenger, L., Lofgren, B., Quinn, F., & Slivitzky, M. (2000).
 Climate change impacts on the hydrology of the Great Lakes-St. Lawrence system.
 Canadian Water Resources Journal, 25(2), 153-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.4296/cwrj2502153</u>

- Notaro, M., Bennington, V., & Lofgren, B. (2015). Dynamical downscaling–based projections of Great Lakes water levels. *Journal of Climate*, 28(24), 9721-9745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00847.1</u>
- d'Orgeville, M., Peltier, W. R., Erler, A. R., & Gula, J. (2014). Climate change impacts on Great Lakes Basin precipitation extremes. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, *119*(18), 10-799. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JD021855</u>
- Pirk, N., Mastepanov, M., Parmentier, F. J. W., Lund, M., Crill, P., & Christensen, T. R. (2016). Calculations of automatic chamber flux measurements of methane and carbon dioxide using short time series of concentrations. *Biogeosciences*, 13(4), 903. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-13-903-2016
- Price, D. T., Alfaro, R. I., Brown, K. J., Flannigan, M. D., Fleming, R. A., Hogg, E. H., ... & Pedlar, J. H. (2013). Anticipating the consequences of climate change for Canada's boreal forest ecosystems. *Environmental Reviews*, 21(4), 322-365. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0042
- Riley, J. L., Freedberg, S., & Litzgus, J. D. (2014). Incubation temperature in the wild influences hatchling phenotype of two freshwater turtle species. *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, 16(5), 397-416.
- Rochefort, L., Vitt, D. H., & Bayley, S. E. (1990). Growth, production, and decomposition dynamics of *Sphagnum* under natural and experimentally acidified conditions. *Ecology*, 71(5), 1986-2000. https://doi.org/10.2307/1937607
- Shure, D. J., & Ragsdale, H. L. (1977). Patterns of primary succession on granite outcrop surfaces. *Ecology*, 58(5), 993-1006. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936920
- Smith, D. C. (1962). The biology of lichen thalli. *Biological Reviews*, *37*(4), 537-570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.1962.tb01336.x
- Smith, P. L. (2014). Lichen translocation with reference to species conservation and habitat restoration. *Symbiosis*, *62*(1), 17-28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13199-014-0269-z
- Spence, C., & Woo, M. K. (2002). Hydrology of subarctic Canadian Shield: bedrock upland. Journal of Hydrology, 262(1-4), 111-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(02)00010-0
- Starr, J. L., & Paltineanu, I. C. (2002). Methods for measurement of soil water content: Capacitance devices. In J.H. Dane & G.C. Topp (Eds.), Methods of soil analysis: Part 4 physical methods (pp. 463-474). Soil Science Society of America, Inc.

- Sveinbjornsson, B., & Oechel, W. C. (1983). The effect of temperature preconditioning on the temperature sensitivity of net CO₂ flux in geographically diverse populations of the moss *Polytrichum commune. Ecology*, 64(5), 1100-1108. https://doi.org/10.2307/1937820
- Swanson, R. V., & Flanagan, L. B. (2001). Environmental regulation of carbon dioxide exchange at the forest floor in a boreal black spruce ecosystem. *Agricultural and forest Meteorology*, 108(3), 165-181. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(01)00243-X
- Trenberth, K. E., Jones, P. D., Ambenje, P., Bojariu, R., Easterling, D., Tank, A. K., ... & Soden,
 B. (2007). *Observations: Surface and Atmospheric Climate Change. Chapter 3*. United Kingdom. http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar4/wg1/ar4-wg1-chapter3.pdf
- Turetsky, M. R. (2003). The role of bryophytes in carbon and nitrogen cycling. *The bryologist*, *106*(3), 395-409. www.jstor.org/stable/3244721
- Vitt, D. H. (1990). Growth and production dynamics of boreal mosses over climatic, chemical and topographic gradients. *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 104(1-3), 35-59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.1990.tb02210.x
- Vrac, M., Vaittinada Ayar, P., & Yiou, P. (2014). Trends and variability of seasonal weather regimes. *International Journal of Climatology*, 34(2), 472-480. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3700

- Walther, G. R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T. J., ... & Bairlein, F. (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature*, 416(6879), 389. https://doi.org/10.1038/416389a
- Walton, M., & Villeneuve, M. (1999). Ecosystem planning in Georgian Bay Islands National Park:
 A multi-jurisdictional approach. In: Second international symposium and workshop on the conservation of the eastern Massasauga rattlesnake, Sistrurus catenatus catenatus:
 Population and habitat management issues in urban, bog, prairie and forested ecosystems (pp. 81-84). Toronto, ON: Toronto Zoo.
- Wotton, B. M., Flannigan, M. D., & Marshall, G. A. (2017). Potential climate change impacts on fire intensity and key wildfire suppression thresholds in Canada. *Environmental Research Letters*, 12(9), 095003. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa7e6e
- Zotz, G., & Kahler, H. (2007). A moss "canopy"–Small-scale differences in microclimate and physiological traits in *Tortula ruralis*. *Flora-Morphology*, *Distribution*, *Functional Ecology of Plants*, 202(8), 661-666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.flora.2007.05.002
- Zotz, G., & Rottenberger, S. (2001). Seasonal changes in diel CO₂ exchange of three central European moss species: a one-year field study. *Plant Biology*, 3(06), 661-669. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2001-19363

Chapter 3: CO₂ exchange of natural and restored lichen and moss patches on a rock barrens landscape: Applications for turtle species-at-risk nesting habitat

Danielle T. Hudson, Chantel E. Markle, James M. Waddington

School of Earth, Environment and Society, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Abstract

Lichen and moss play a critical role in ecosystems globally as they often initiate ecosystem succession, stabilize soil and improve soil quality, and provide habitat for species-at-risk. Lichen and moss colonize landscapes with high temperatures, low moisture availability and limited soil. Once established, the lichen and moss improve the microclimate and develop soil, facilitating establishment of more complex vegetation. In boreal and tundra regions lichens are an important food source for caribou and reindeer, and in arid regions lichen and moss reduce soil erosion and improve soil quality. On the rock barrens landscape of eastern Georgian Bay, lichen and moss provide nesting habitat for turtle species-at-risk. Lichen and moss are essential ecosystem resources, but they are vulnerable to impacts from climate change and development due to their slow-growing nature. As a result, restoration methods must be considered to increase or maintain lichen and moss cover. Two common restoration approaches are fragment dispersal and in-tact patch transplants, but the latter is understudied. In this study we aimed to determine whether the in-tact transplant approach would be feasible for lichen and moss on rock barrens landscapes. We quantified the success of lichen and moss transplants by measuring their CO₂ exchange with a closed chamber and infrared gas analyzer at nine transplanted and six natural plots from July to October 2019. Furthermore, we quantified the decomposition under transplant and natural cover.

We found that there were no differences in productivity and decomposition between natural and transplant lichen patches, and there were some differences between that of mixed and moss patches. Our findings suggest that the in-tact patch transplant approach can be used to increase lichen cover on a given landscape, and specifically it can be used to improve constructed turtle nest sites on rock barrens landscapes.

Introduction

On rock barrens landscapes, lichen and moss are the dominant bedrock cover and are integral to the succession and function of these ecosystems. Lichen and moss are the first organisms to colonize granitic bedrock landscapes as they are able to withstand high temperatures, low moisture, and do not require soil for establishment (Keever et al., 1951; Lange, 2001). Once established, lichen and moss facilitate ecosystem succession by improving microclimate conditions (Burbanck & Platt, 1964), moderating soil temperatures (Kershaw & Field, 1975), and reducing soil water losses (Moore et al., 2019). Lichen and moss also play an essential role in soil formation in rock barrens ecosystems. Soil is limited on these landscapes and only accumulates in shallow bedrock depressions. Lichen and moss are able to enhance soil accumulation through chemical weathering of bedrock (Jackson, 2015), trapping particles carried in the wind (Bowker, 2007; Burbanck & Platt, 1964) and stabilizing existing soil deposits (Aguilar et al., 2009; Belnap & Gillette, 1998; Chamizo et al., 2017). Further, lichen and moss play a key role in non-rock barrens ecosystems. For example, lichens (primarily Cladonia spp.) are an essential winter food source for caribou and reindeer populations in Boreal and tundra regions (Bergerud, 1972; Danell et al., 1994; Inga, 2007). In desert ecosystems lichen and moss form soil crusts which improve soil quality (Maestre et al., 2011) by reducing erosion (Aguilar et al., 2009; Belnap & Gillette, 1998;

Chamizo et al., 2017) and improving soil nutrients (*e.g.* Chamizo et al., 2012). Furthermore, lichen and moss crusts can provide habitat for desert fauna, such as arthropods (*e.g.* Lalley et al., 2006). On rock barrens landscapes, the ability of lichen and moss to moderate soil moisture and temperature, as well as to accumulate soil, makes lichen- and moss-dominated soil deposits suitable for turtle nesting (*e.g.* Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014). Despite their importance for ecosystem function, lichen and moss can take decades to form a sufficient mat (Carroll & Bliss, 1982; Crittenden, 2000; Dunford et al., 2006; Roturier et al., 2007) and they are vulnerable to climate change impacts (Dai et al. 2004; Price et al., 2013; Trenberth et al., 2007; Wotton et al., 2017) and increasing disturbances such as development and resource extraction (*e.g.* Baxter-Gilbert et al., 2015; Belnap & Eldridge, 2001; Duncan, 2015). As a result of the slow growth rates of lichen and moss (Bowker, 2007; Smith, 1962), and the harsh conditions of the ecosystems they inhabit (Bowker, 2007; Keever et al., 1951; Lange, 2001), natural recovery is delayed. Thus, disturbance of lichen and moss mats can have long-term impacts on ecosystems, and restoration approaches must be considered.

Lichen and moss mats are essential to ecosystems globally, yet they are understudied and often ignored in restoration literature (Bowker, 2007). Two methods used to restore lichen and moss mats on a given landscape are fragment dispersal (*e.g.* Groeneveld & Rochefort, 2005; Groeneveld et al., 2007; Roturier et al., 2007) and in-tact patch transplants (*e.g.* Groeneveld & Rochefort, 2005; Roturier & Bergsten, 2009) with the former being the most common. Fragment dispersal involves spreading small fragments of lichen or moss across a suitable substrate and allowing them to establish over time (*e.g.* Groeneveld & Rochefort, 2005; Groeneveld et al., 2007). Research has shown that while moss fragments can establish after two to three years because of their greater net primary productivity (Graf & Rochefort, 2010; Roturier et al., 2010; Rotur

al., 2007), it can take lichens up to 45 years to form a sufficient cover (Carroll & Bliss, 1982; Crittenden, 2000; Dunford et al., 2006; Roturier et al., 2007). Furthermore, the success of fragment restoration for lichen or moss can be hindered by wind, runoff and animals (Duncan, 2015; Roturier et al., 2007; Roturier & Bergsten, 2009). Transplanting in-tact patches of lichen or moss with a thin layer of substrate attached is a less common approach in restoration literature and few studies have been conducted on this method of restoring lichen or moss mats (e.g. Groeneveld et al., 2007; Roturier & Bergsten, 2009). Groeneveld et al. (2007) transplanted in-tact patches of Polytrichum strictum and found that the moss patches moderated temperatures, retained more moisture and trapped particles and seeds more effectively than bare peat. Roturier and Bergsten (2009) successfully transplanted 0.25 m² patches of lichen, and other studies have observed lichen establishment following transplanting in-tact patches between different environments (e.g. Gilbert, 2001; Sonesson et al., 2007). On non-rock barrens landscapes, lichen and moss restoration has been undertaken for various purposes. Groeneveld and Rochefort (2005) showed that transplanted Polytrichum strictum patches and fragments can reduce frost heaving, while Groeneveld et al. (2007) found that transplanting Polytrichum strictum patches can improve microclimate conditions and encourage growth of other target species. On arctic and alpine landscapes, fragments and patches of lichen have been used to restore reindeer and caribou habitat following soil disturbance from overgrazing, mining or forestry (Duncan, 2015; Roturier et al., 2007). Nevertheless, there is a lack of research examining the restoration of lichen and moss on rock barrens landscapes, and while patch transplanting is understudied, this approach can potentially increase lichen and moss cover quicker than other methods, thereby more rapidly restoring the ecosystem functions that lichen and moss mats provide.

The landscape of eastern Georgian Bay, Ontario is characterized by Canadian Shield rock barrens where there is an increasingly urgent need for lichen and moss restoration research. While lichen- and moss-dominated mats in this region are essential to the integrity of rock barrens ecosystems (e.g. Burbanck & Platt, 1964; Keever et al., 1951), they are vulnerable to climate change impacts (see Chapter 2; Davidson et al., 2002; Smith, 2014) and increasing disturbances from development (e.g. Baxter-Gilbert et al., 2015; Belnap & Eldridge, 2001; Duncan, 2015). This research need is especially important because the lichen- and moss-dominated bedrock uplands also represent critical nesting habitat for turtle species-at-risk (e.g. Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014). Across their range turtles are experiencing habitat loss and degradation of both wetlands and upland nesting habitat as a result of climate change (Lesbarrères et al., 2014) and increasing human development (Lesbarrères et al., 2014; Walton & Villeneuve, 1999). Female turtles often make large terrestrial movements to locate nesting sites (e.g. Edge et al., 2010), which increases their road interactions and thus, their risk of mortality (Steen et al., 2006). Furthermore, females are often attracted to gravel road shoulders or unpaved roads for nesting (Beaudry et al., 2010; Steen et al., 2006). Roadside nests have negative implications for recruitment as there is high potential for injury or mortality of the nesting females and the hatchlings (e.g. Aresco, 2004; Aresco, 2005; Steen et al., 2006). Nest predation is another significant concern for turtle species-at-risk (Congdon et al., 1987; Marchand & Litvaitis, 2004a), as increasing human populations support a higher density of mesopredators such as foxes, skunks, and raccoons (e.g. Christiansen & Gallaway, 1984; Engeman et al., 2005; Riley & Litzgus, 2013), and some turtle populations can have 90-100% of the nests depredated (e.g. Aresco, 2004; Congdon et al., 1987). As a result of these challenges and the life history traits of turtles (e.g. Congdon et al., 1993; Congdon et al., 1994), recruitment rates are low or declining in many turtle

populations (Compton, 2007; Lesbarrères et al., 2014; Marchand & Litvaitis, 2004b; Steen & Gibbs, 2004). In an effort to mitigate these issues, researchers have constructed artificial nest sites to increase the availability of nesting habitat and reduce the distance turtles must travel to locate suitable sites (*e.g.* Kiviat et al., 2000; Paterson et al., 2013). Constructed nest sites have been designed for regions where turtles primarily nest in sand and gravel (*e.g.* Kiviat et al., 2000; Paterson et al., 2013). However, on rock barrens, sand and gravel deposits are not common, instead turtles nest in the lichen- or moss-dominated shallow soil deposits in bedrock depressions (Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014). Lichen and moss are critical for nest success because they moderate temperatures (Kershaw & Field, 1975), retain moisture (Moore et al., 2019), and reduce soil erosion (*e.g.* Aguilar et al., 2009; Belnap & Gillette, 1998; Chamizo et al., 2017), therefore in-tact patches of lichen and moss could be transplanted to enhance a novel constructed nest design for rock barrens landscapes.

Given that lichen and moss are necessary for the function of rock barrens ecosystems and turtle nesting habitat, we address a critical research gap by assessing the initial viability of transplanted in-tact patches of lichen and moss as a restoration approach. Considering that transplant viability depends greatly on the ability of the moss and lichen to sequester CO₂, the first objective of our study was to determine whether the CO₂ exchange differed between natural and transplant lichen and moss plots. Our second objective was to determine whether the key functional relationships, including the gross primary productivity response to photosynthetic photon flux density, and the CO₂ flux response to soil volumetric water content, differed between natural and transplant plots. Our final objective was to quantify the decomposition rate under natural and transplant cover to determine whether this differs between treatments. We predicted that there would not be significant differences between natural and transplant patches, which would suggest that transplant patches could persist on the landscape. Furthermore, we predicted that transplanting patches of lichen and moss would be a suitable approach for restoring lichen and moss cover and enhancing suitability of constructed turtle nesting habitat on rock barrens landscapes.

Methods

Study area

The eastern Georgian Bay landscape is characterized by wetland-filled valleys and bedrock-exposed uplands. Wetlands in this region are dominated by *Sphagnum* spp. and diverse vascular vegetation, including but not limited to leatherleaf (*Chamaedaphne calyculata*), jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*), tamarack (*Larex laricina*), and sedges (*Carex* spp.). The Canadian Shield granite upland rock barrens (Crins et al., 2009) have been shaped by erosion and currently exhibit a varying surface of shallow bedrock depressions, deeper crevices and smooth bedrock. The vegetation on the upland rock barrens include lichen (*Cladonia* spp.), moss (*Polytrichum* spp.), blueberry (*Vaccinium angustifolium*), juniper (*Juniperus communis*), and jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*). Species such as the snapping turtle (*Chelydra serpentina*), midland painted turtle (*Chrysemys picta marginata*), spotted turtle (*Clemmys guttata*), and Blanding's turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) are known to nest on this landscape (*e.g.* Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014).

The eastern Georgian Bay region has a cool-temperate and humid climate. The 26-year daily average maximum and minimum air temperatures for July – October are 18.9 and 6.9 °C, respectively (Government of Canada, 2019). In 2019, the average air temperature from July through October was 16.8 °C, with a maximum of 33 °C and a minimum of -0.6 °C. The 26-year

average cumulative rainfall from July – October is 394.6 mm (Government of Canada, 2019) and in 2019 the study area received 270.9 mm in that period.

Transplant and natural sites

As part of another ongoing study, we constructed turtle nesting habitat using a novel approach specifically designed for the Canadian shield rock barrens of eastern Georgian Bay (Markle, unpublished data). The completed constructed sites had a soil depth of 0.2 m at the deepest point and an approximate area of 0.6 m². With the soil in place, three lichen (*Cladonia* spp.), three mixed (*Cladonia* spp. and *Polytrichum* spp.), and three moss (*Polytrichum* spp.) patches from donor sites were transplanted to constructed nest sites (herein referred to as transplant sites; Table 3.1). Donor sites had a soil depth of less than 0.05 m to ensure that we were not disturbing existing nest habitat. Donor patches were removed from the bedrock by sliding our hands under the mat and carefully lifting it in one piece. The donor patches were then placed on the constructed nest site.

To evaluate the success of the transplanted lichen and moss patches, transplant sites were paired with undisturbed natural sites and were located within 10 m of each other (herein referred to as natural sites; Table 3.1). Natural sites were immediately adjacent to confirmed turtle nests to provide a direct assessment of suitable turtle nesting habitat. In total, six natural nest sites were monitored with varying cover types: three lichen- (*Cladonia* spp.), two mixed- (*Cladonia* spp. and *Polytrichum* spp.) and one moss-dominated (*Polytrichum* spp.).

Pair	Treatment	Cover	Depth of probes
1	Natural	Mixed	0.055
1	Transplant	Mixed	0.055
2	Natural	Mixed	0.05
2	Transplant	Mixed	0.05
3	Natural	Lichen	0.045
3	Transplant	Lichen	0.045
4	Natural	Lichen	0.055
4	Transplant	Lichen	0.055
5	Natural	Moss	0.05
5	Transplant	Moss	0.05
6	Natural	Lichen	0.075
6	Transplant	Lichen	0.075
7	Transplant	Moss	0.045
7	Transplant	Mixed	0.045
7	Transplant	Moss	0.045

Table 3.1. Site description and depths of both soil moisture and temperature probes (m).

*CO*² *exchange*

Between July and October 2019, we measured CO_2 exchange at the 15 plots (six natural and nine transplant plots) using a closed static chamber (diameter = 10 cm, height = 15 cm, volume = 1.18 L) and an infrared gas analyzer (EGM-5, PP Systems, Massachusetts, USA) on permanent circular PVC collars (diameter = 10 cm, height = 15 cm). We measured the change in CO_2 concentration within the chamber over a 90-second period. CO_2 and photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD; µmol m⁻²s⁻¹) were recorded every 5 seconds for 90 seconds. PPFD was measured using a quantum meter (MQ-200, Apogee Instruments, Utah, USA). Measurements were taken under full, dark and half-light conditions using no shroud, opaque, and sheer shrouds, respectively. Chamber temperature and relative humidity were measured every 10 seconds using an iButton (Type 23, Alpha Mach, Quebec, Canada). Measurements were taken on 29 different days between 8:00 and 16:00 from 3 July to 17 October 2019.

We calculated CO₂ flux using a linear regression of the change in CO₂ concentration over the measurement period as a function of chamber volume and collar area (Pirk et al., 2016). Measurements with an \mathbb{R}^2 value less than 0.5 were checked for error and removed if necessary (13% of measurements removed; cf. Harris et al., 2018). Net ecosystem productivity (NEP) was defined as the sum of ecosystem respiration (ER) and gross primary productivity (GPP). Here we use the sign convention where a positive CO₂ flux represents uptake by the lichen and moss, and a negative flux represents a release of CO₂ to the atmosphere. ER was calculated from the CO₂ flux under dark conditions. GPP was calculated by subtracting ER from NEP. We used SigmaPlot (V.14, Systat Software Inc.) to fit a rectangular hyperbola model to compare the GPP-PPFD relationship between treatment (natural, transplant), cover (lichen, mixed, moss) and season (wet, dry; Bubier et al., 1998; Frolking et al., 1998). For each curve we determined the initial slope (α) and asymptote (GPP_{max}) parameters.

Soil moisture and temperature

From 3 July 2019 until 17 October 2019 continuous soil volumetric water content (VWC) and soil temperature were measured at all 15 plots. The VWC and temperature measurement depths were equivalent between paired plots but varied among pairs with a range of 0.045 to 0.075 m below the soil surface (in accordance with another ongoing study; Table 3.1). Soil VWC was measured every 15 minutes using a HOBO soil moisture smart sensor (0.05 m probe length, 0.3 L volume of influence, Onset HOBO S-SMxpM005, Massachusetts, USA) and logged using a HOBO Micro Station data logger (Onset HOBO H21-USB). Soil VWC probes were calibrated for the rock barrens soil according to Starr and Paltineanu (2002). Soil temperature was measured hourly using an iButton (iBWetland Type G). Temperature data were interpolated to 15-minute intervals to align with the soil VWC measurements. Air temperature was measured every 30 minutes at a meteorological station 1100 m from the sites.

Decomposition rates

We used the Tea Bag Index (TBI) method to estimate relative differences in the decomposition rate and stabilization factor between each of our plots (Keuskamp et al., 2013). We measured the initial weight of non-woven polypropylene green (Lipton Indonesian tea Sencha tradition: EAN 87 22700 05552) and rooibos tea bags (Lipton Herbal infusion Rooibos - Rooibos and hibiscus: EAN 87 22700 188438) and buried them at an average soil depth of 0.064 m directly adjacent to the CO₂ collar. After 101 days the tea bags were removed and cleaned of external

debris. We dried the tea bags in an oven at 60 °C for 48 hours and then re-weighed the tea bags to determine final weight.

Analyses

We conducted all statistical analyses in R 3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019). We used a breakpoint analysis of cumulative rainfall (see Figure S2.1) to define a wet and dry period over the entire growing season (8 May and 17 October 2019). Using this approach, we defined the wet period as the 8 May to 24 June and 1 September to 17 October. The dry season began 25 June and ended 31 August. For this study, CO₂ data was only collected during the dry season (25 June to 31 August) and the second part of the wet season (1 September to 17 October), and these periods will be herein referred to as the wet and dry periods.

We used the *dabestr* package to compare CO₂ exchange between treatment (natural, transplant), cover (lichen, mixed, moss), and season (wet, dry) using estimation plots (Ho et al., 2019). We created the estimation plots using a 99% confidence interval to account for small, uneven sample sizes between cover types and seasons. To determine if the response of CO₂ exchange (μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹) to changing soil VWC (m³ m⁻³) differed between treatment (natural, transplant) and cover (lichen, mixed, moss) we used the *lme4* package (Bates et al., 2015) to fit a linear mixed effects model (LMM) for each cover type with treatment and soil VWC as fixed effects and plot number as a random effect to account for repeated measures. The models were fit using restricted maximum likelihood. We used the method outlined in Keuskamp et al. (2013) to calculate the decomposition rate (k) and the stabilization factor (S) for each plot. We used an unpaired two-sample t-test to compare the mean decomposition rate and stabilization factor between natural and transplant plots. The data were normally distributed and had homogeneous

variance, with the exception of the mixed decomposition rate which was not normally distributed. To account for this, we used an unpaired two-sample Wilcoxon test to compare the mixed plots between treatments. Unless otherwise stated the reported error represents 99% confidence intervals.

Results

*CO*² *exchange*

The natural and transplant lichen plots had a similar NEP for both the dry (mean difference of transplant minus natural \pm CI (Δ) = -0.31 \pm 0.34 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹) and wet (Δ = -0.57 \pm 0.64 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹) periods (Figure 3.1). Mixed transplants had a lower mean NEP than natural in the dry period (Δ = -1.0 \pm 0.59 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹), while the NEP was similar between natural and transplant in the wet period (Δ = -0.67 \pm 0.74 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹; Figure 3.1). The moss transplants had a similar NEP in the dry period (Δ = -0.61 \pm 0.72 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹) and a lower NEP than natural plots in the wet period (Δ = -1.31 \pm 0.73 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹; Figure 3.1).

Lichen ER was similar between transplant and natural plots in both the dry ($\Delta = -0.11 \pm 0.2 \ \mu\text{mol}\ \text{m}^{-2}\text{s}^{-1}$) and wet ($\Delta = -0.05 \pm 0.39 \ \mu\text{mol}\ \text{m}^{-2}\text{s}^{-1}$) periods (Figure 3.2). Mixed transplant plots had a similar ER in the dry period ($\Delta = -0.26 \pm 0.38 \ \mu\text{mol}\ \text{m}^{-2}\text{s}^{-1}$) and a greater ER in the wet period ($\Delta = -0.30 \pm 0.26 \ \mu\text{mol}\ \text{m}^{-2}\text{s}^{-1}$) when compared to the natural plots (Figure 3.2). Moss transplant plots were similar to natural plots in both the dry ($\Delta = 0.51 \pm 0.75 \ \mu\text{mol}\ \text{m}^{-2}\text{s}^{-1}$) and wet ($\Delta = 0.35 \pm 0.38 \ \mu\text{mol}\ \text{m}^{-2}\text{s}^{-1}$) periods (Figure 3.2).

The lichen transplant plots had a similar GPP when compared to the natural plots in both the dry ($\Delta = -0.21 \pm 0.34 \ \mu mol \ m^{-2}s^{-1}$) and wet ($\Delta = 0.60 \pm 0.62 \ \mu mol \ m^{-2}s^{-1}$) periods (Figure 3.3). Mixed transplant plots had a lower GPP in the dry period ($\Delta = -0.81 \pm 0.64 \ \mu mol \ m^{-2}s^{-1}$) and a similar GPP in the wet period ($\Delta = -0.28 \pm 0.8 \ \mu mol \ m^{-2}s^{-1}$) when compared to natural plots (Figure 3.3). Moss GPP was lower in the transplant plots than natural plots during the dry period ($\Delta = -0.99 \pm 0.71 \ \mu mol \ m^{-2}s^{-1}$) and the wet period ($\Delta = -1.66 \pm 0.89 \ \mu mol \ m^{-2}s^{-1}$; Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.1. Mean differences in net ecosystem productivity (NEP) between transplant and natural plots (\pm 99% confidence intervals) within season (wet, dry) and cover type (lichen, mixed, moss).



Figure 3.2. Mean differences in ecosystem respiration (ER) between transplant and natural plots $(\pm 99\%$ confidence intervals) within season (wet, dry) and cover type (lichen, mixed, moss).



Figure 3.3. Mean differences in gross primary productivity (GPP) between transplant and natural plots (\pm 99% confidence intervals) within season (wet, dry) and cover type (lichen, mixed, moss).

The GPP-PPFD relationship had a poor rectangular hyperbolic fit, due to highly variable measured data around the curve, for all cover types and seasons for both natural and transplant sites, with the exception of the moss transplant plots during the wet season (Figure 3.4). Lichen transplant plots (LT) had a lower initial slope (α) and GPP_{max} than natural (LN) in both the dry (LN: $\alpha = -23.3$, GPP_{max} = 0.61, R² = 0.002; LT: $\alpha = -89.84$, GPP_{max} = 0.36, R² = 0.026) and wet periods (LN: $\alpha = 70.3$, GPP_{max} = 1.24, R² = 0.018; LT: $\alpha = -58.73$, GPP_{max} = 0.55, R² = 0.028). Mixed transplant plots (MT) had lower initial slope (α) and GPP_{max} than natural (MN) in the dry period (MN: $\alpha = -10.35$, GPP_{max} = 1.08, R² = 0; MT: $\alpha = -33.93$, GPP_{max} = 0.43, R² = 0.004) and higher values in the wet period (MN: $\alpha = 155.26$, GPP_{max} = 2.61, R² = 0.072; MT: $\alpha = 778.25$, GPP_{max} = 4.05, R² = 0.161). Moss transplant plots (MoT) had lower initial slope (α) and GPP_{max} = 0.88, R² = 0.057; MoT: $\alpha = -136.36$, GPP_{max} = 0.27, R² = 0.066) and the wet period (MoN: $\alpha = 451.68$, GPP_{max} = 4.93, R² = 0.73; MoT: $\alpha = 103.92$, GPP_{max} = 1.27, R² = 0.02) when compared to the natural plots.



Figure 3.4. Relationship between incoming photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD, µmol m⁻²s⁻¹) and gross primary productivity (GPP, µmol m⁻²s⁻¹) for natural lichen (a) during the wet ($\alpha = 70.3$, GPP_{max} = 1.24, R² = 0.018) and dry period ($\alpha = -23.3$, GPP_{max} = 0.61, R² = 0.002), transplant lichen (b) during the wet ($\alpha = -58.73$, GPP_{max} = 0.55, R² = 0.028) and dry period ($\alpha = -89.84$, GPP_{max} = 0.36, R² = 0.026), natural mixed (c) during the wet ($\alpha = 155.26$, GPP_{max} = 2.61, R² = 0.072) and dry period ($\alpha = -10.35$, GPP_{max} = 1.08, R² = 0), transplant mixed (d) during the wet ($\alpha = 778.25$, GPP_{max} = 4.05, R² = 0.161) and dry period ($\alpha = -33.93$, GPP_{max} = 0.43, R² = 0.004), natural moss (e) during the wet ($\alpha = 451.68$, GPP_{max} = 4.93, R² = 0.73) and dry period ($\alpha = -218.06$, GPP_{max} = 0.88, R² = 0.057;), and transplant moss (f) during the wet ($\alpha = 103.92$, GPP_{max} = 1.27, R² = 0.02) and dry period ($\alpha = -136.36$, GPP_{max} = 0.27, R² = 0.066). GPP and PPFD calculated

from field CO₂ and PPFD measurements for natural lichen (a), transplant lichen (b), natural mixed (c), transplant mixed (d), natural moss (e), and transplant moss (f) during the wet (red points) and dry (grey points) periods.

Predicted response to temperature and moisture

The predicted slope of NEP and soil VWC, did not differ significantly between transplant and natural plots for lichen (LMM, estimate [est.] \pm standard error [SE] = -1.67 \pm 2.05, t = -0.82, p = 0.42), mixed (LMM, est. \pm SE = 3.23 \pm 2.95, t = 1.1, p = 0.27) or moss (LMM, est. \pm SE = 0.18 \pm 2.45, t = 0.07, p = 0.94) plots (Figure 3.5). The predicted response of ER to changing soil VWC did not differ significantly between transplant and natural plots for lichen (LMM, est. \pm SE = 2.09 \pm 1.14, t = 1.83, p = 0.07), mixed (LMM, est. \pm SE = 1.39 \pm 1.71, t = 0.81, p = 0.42) or moss (LMM, est. \pm SE = 2.6 \pm 1.8, t = 1.45, p = 0.15) plots (Figure 3.5). The predicted response of GPP to changing soil VWC did not differ significantly between transplant and natural plots for lichen (LMM, est. \pm SE = -3.64 \pm 1.94, t = -1.88, p = 0.068), mixed (LMM, est. \pm SE = 2.2 \pm 2.68, t = 0.82, p = 0.41) or moss (LMM, est. \pm SE = -2.82 \pm 2.0, t = -1.41, p = 0.16) plots (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5. Predicted response of (a) net ecosystem productivity (NEP), (b) ecosystem respiration (ER), and (c) gross primary productivity (GPP) to increasing soil volumetric water content (VWC; $m^3 m^{-3} \pm 95\%$ confidence intervals) according to the linear mixed effects models for natural (solid line) and transplant plots (dashed line). NEP (a), ER (b), and GPP (c) calculated from field CO₂ measurements for natural (black points) and transplant plots (grey points).

Decomposition rates

When cover types (lichen, mixed, moss) were grouped into two treatments (natural, transplant), the mean decomposition rates did not differ between natural (0.014) and transplant (0.012) treatments (t = 1.28, df = 12, p = 0.22; Figure 3.6). The mean stabilization factors were also similar between natural (0.038) and transplant (0.031) treatments (t = 0.42, df = 12, p = 0.68; Figure 3.6). The natural and transplant treatments had similar decomposition rates within the lichen (t = -1.16, df = 3, p = 0.33), mixed (W = 4, p = 0.77), and moss (t = 2.26, df = 2, p = 0.15) cover types (Figure 3.6). Furthermore, the stabilization factors did not differ between natural and transplant treatments for lichen (t = -0.004, df = 3, p = 1.0), mixed (t = -0.08, df = 3, p = 0.94) or moss (t = 0.86, df = 2, p = 0.48) plots (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6. Differences in decomposition rate (a) and stabilization factor (b) between natural and transplant within each cover type (lichen, mixed, moss).

Discussion

Lichen CO₂ exchange was similar between natural and transplant plots in both the wet and dry season (Figures 3.1 - 3.3) suggesting that transplanting in-tact lichen patches does not significantly affect lichen productivity. Furthermore, we found that the CO₂ flux response to changing soil volumetric water content (VWC) did not differ between natural and transplant lichen mats (Figure 3.5) which is critical since soil VWC is a known control on the net ecosystem productivity (NEP), ecosystem respiration (ER) and gross primary productivity (GPP) of lichen and moss (see Chapter 2). Moreover, we found the relationship between GPP and photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) to be similar between natural and transplant lichen plots (Figure 3.4) which further supports our finding that in-tact lichen patches can be transplanted successfully. Our results are consistent with similar studies where researchers documented growth of in-tact lichen patches following transplant (e.g. Gilbert, 2001; Roturier & Bergsten, 2009; Sonesson et al., 2007). Roturier and Bergsten (2009) used repeated photographs to monitor the growth of transplant lichen patches over 6 years and found that the transplant patches maintained a higher lichen cover when compared to fragment dispersal plots. Furthermore, Sonesson et al. (2007) transplanted Nephroma articum lichens between elevations and found that lichens were able to effectively acclimate to new environmental conditions. In addition, the high-altitude lichen transplants had increased net photosynthesis when compared to the natural controls (Sonesson et al., 2007). Together, the previous literature from non-rock barrens ecosystems and our findings suggest that transplanting lichen patches should be a suitable approach for maintaining lichen cover on rock barrens landscapes.

We found that plots containing moss had greater differences in CO_2 exchange between the transplant and natural treatments, suggesting that the in-tact transplants of moss were less

81

successful than the lichen transplants with regards to productivity. Our finding contradicts previous studies which successfully transplanted Polytrichum spp. patches (e.g. Groeneveld et al., 2007; Groeneveld & Rochefort, 2005). It is possible that our moss transplants were less productive because two of the three transplant patches were from a partially shaded donor site with poor drainage. When the patches were transplanted to the receptor site, which had no canopy cover and drained well, they potentially became stressed and therefore less productive. Another possible explanation for the differences between natural and transplant moss plots could be the timing of transplant. Because we paired the transplant plots with confirmed turtle nests, we had to move the lichen and moss in late June. It is possible that the moss transplants were moisture stressed given the dry conditions for two months following transplant (see Chapter 2) and were unable to recover in the fall. Conversely, lichens become dormant under dry conditions and can rapidly return to productivity when water becomes available, which could explain the discrepancy between cover types. Moss has a higher growth rate than lichens (Smith, 1962) and previous research has shown that moss can establish from fragments in approximately three years (Graf & Rochefort, 2010). Given our results and existing literature, fragment dispersal is possibly a more effective long-term approach for increasing moss cover.

We further determined that both the decomposition rates and stabilization factors were similar in natural and transplant plots (Figure 3.6). We used the tea bag index method which allows us to compare the decomposition between plots without having to consider variation in litter, thus the method allows us to examine how decomposition varies under the different environmental conditions between sites (Didion et al., 2016; Keuskamp et al., 2013). Given the fact that decomposition is largely controlled by temperature and moisture conditions (Coûteaux et al., 1995; Trofymow et al., 2002), our tea bag index results provide support for our hypothesis that transplanted lichen and moss patches can provide the same conditions that natural plots do. While our results may be unsurprising given that our sites are located within 300 m of each other, these findings still support our conclusion that, at least initially, transplanting lichen cover is a viable approach for restoring lichen mats on a landscape. Our observed decomposition rates and stabilization factors are on the lower end of the data presented for a range of ecosystems in Keuskamp et al. (2013) and are most similar to wet forest, pasture, and peat environments. This is surprising, as we expected that the relatively high temperatures of rock barrens landscapes (Keever et al., 1951; Lange, 2001) would lead to higher rates of decomposition. Decomposition varies under different environmental conditions and we found that it did not differ between our natural and transplant plots, thereby suggesting the transplant plots were providing similar environmental conditions to the natural plots. These results support our conclusion that transplanting lichen patches is a viable restoration approach.

Our results have important implications for maintaining the total area of lichen mats on rock barrens landscapes in an era of unprecedented natural and human disturbance. This is a critically important finding because not only are lichens essential for primary soil formation and ecosystem succession, they also provide suitable turtle nesting habitat on rock barrens landscapes in the eastern Georgian Bay region. As such, we suggest that a constructed turtle nest design for rock barrens regions should incorporate lichen as the dominant cover type.

The two common approaches for maintaining or increasing lichen cover through restoration are fragment dispersal and transplanting in-tact patches, as we did in this study. Fragment dispersal is less suitable for rock barrens landscapes as lichen fragments have slow growth rates (*e.g.* Carroll & Bliss, 1982; Crittenden, 2000; Dunford et al., 2006; Roturier et al., 2007) and there is high potential for disturbance by wind, runoff, and animals (Duncan, 2015;

83

Roturier et al., 2007; Roturier & Bergsten, 2009). Our findings are therefore critical, as they suggest that the in-tact transplant approach is viable for use on rock barrens landscapes. For example, this restoration method could be applied in a situation where a planned disturbance, such as highway expansion, is expected to disturb turtle species-at-risk nesting habitat by crushing lichen mats or disrupting the hydrologic regimes necessary for lichen growth. Our study has shown that instead of destroying the lichen mats, which take decades to form and are critical ecosystem resources, they can be transplanted out of the impact footprint to a nearby undisturbed area. In the case where there is not a suitable area nearby to receive the transplant patches, lichens can be stored for up to three years (Glaholt et al., 1997; Honegger, 2003) or propagated in a greenhouse for use in future restoration projects (Duncan, 2015).

Lichen patch restoration can be applied in various ecosystems and used to improve ecohydrological conditions. For example, caribou and reindeer populations rely on lichen (*e.g. Cladonia* spp.) for nutrition during the winter (Bergerud, 1972; Danell et al., 1994; Inga, 2007). The habitat used by caribou and reindeer is often disturbed by overgrazing or industry (*e.g.* forestry, mining; Berg et al., 2008; Duncan, 2015), and lichen restoration could mitigate the impact of these disturbances. In arid environments, lichen and moss transplants could be used to form or enhance soil crusts which can improve soil quality (Maestre et al., 2011) and provide habitat for fauna (*e.g.* Lalley et al., 2006). Wildfire significantly decreases the volume of soil available on rock barrens landscapes (Markle et al., 2020), and given that lichen and moss are essential for primary soil formation, restoration of lichen and moss mats could jumpstart ecosystem recovery. On bedrock landscapes, lichen and moss patches also provide an essential storage unit for runoff, thereby increasing infiltration and reducing surface runoff (Spence & Woo, 2002). When considering the application for turtle nesting, this in-tact patch transplant approach can be used to restore suitable nesting habitat by enhancing artificial nest construction on rock barrens landscapes. In summary, we have found that transplanting lichen patches will not impact the productivity of the lichen, and as such this method can be used to rapidly increase lichen cover in a range of ecosystems, including the rock barrens landscape.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded by a NSERC (Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada) Discovery Grant awarded to JMW. We would like to thank Hope Freeman, Alex Tekatch, Taylor North, and the rest of the McMaster Ecohydrology Lab for assistance in the field. Furthermore, we would like to thank Paul Moore and Lorna Harris for research design and analysis advice. Literature cited

- Aguilar, A. J., Huber-Sannwald, E., Belnap, J., Smart, D. R., & Moreno, J. A. (2009). Biological soil crusts exhibit a dynamic response to seasonal rain and release from grazing with implications for soil stability. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 73(12), 1158-1169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2009.05.009
- Aresco, M. J. (2004). Reproductive ecology of *Pseudemys floridana* and *Trachemys scripta* (Testudines: Emydidae) in northwestern Florida. *Journal of Herpetology*, 249-256. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1566222
- Aresco, M. J. (2005). The effect of sex-specific terrestrial movements and roads on the sex ratio of freshwater turtles. *Biological Conservation*, 123(1), 37-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2004.10.006
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1-48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Baxter-Gilbert, J. H., Riley, J. L., Lesbarrères, D., & Litzgus, J. D. (2015). Mitigating reptile road mortality: fence failures compromise ecopassage effectiveness. *PLos one*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120537

- Beaudry, F., deMaynadier, P. G., & Hunter Jr, M. L. (2010). Nesting movements and the use of anthropogenic nesting sites by spotted turtles (*Clemmys guttata*) and Blanding's turtles (*Emydoidea blandingii*). *Herpetological Conservation and Biology*, 5(1), 1-8.
- Belnap, J., & Eldridge, D. (2001). Disturbance and recovery of biological soil crusts. In J. Belnap
 & O.L. Lange (Eds.), *Biological soil crusts: Structure, function, and management* (pp. 363-383). Springer.
- Belnap, J., & Gillette, D. A. (1998). Vulnerability of desert biological soil crusts to wind erosion: the influences of crust development, soil texture, and disturbance. *Journal of arid environments*, 39(2), 133-142. https://doi.org/10.1006/jare.1998.0388
- Berg, A., Östlund, L., Moen, J., & Olofsson, J. (2008). A century of logging and forestry in a reindeer herding area in northern Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 256(5), 1009-1020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.06.003
- Bergerud, A. T. (1972). Food habits of Newfoundland caribou. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 913-923. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3799448
- Bowker, M. A. (2007). Biological soil crust rehabilitation in theory and practice: an underexploited opportunity. *Restoration Ecology*, 15(1), 13-23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2006.00185.x

- Bubier, J. L., Crill, P. M., Moore, T. R., Savage, K., & Varner, R. K. (1998). Seasonal patterns and controls on net ecosystem CO₂ exchange in a boreal peatland complex. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 12(4), 703-714. https://doi.org/10.1029/98GB02426
- Burbanck, M. P., & Platt, R. B. (1964). Granite outcrop communities of the Piedmont Plateau in Georgia. *Ecology*, 45(2), 292-306. https://doi.org/10.2307/1933842
- Carroll, S. B., & Bliss, L. C. (1982). Jack pine–lichen woodland on sandy soils in northern Saskatchewan and northeastern Alberta. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 60(11), 2270-2282. https://doi.org/10.1139/b82-278
- Chamizo, S., Cantón, Y., Miralles, I., & Domingo, F. (2012). Biological soil crust development affects physicochemical characteristics of soil surface in semiarid ecosystems. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 49, 96-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.02.017
- Chamizo, S., Rodríguez-Caballero, E., Román, J. R., & Cantón, Y. (2017). Effects of biocrust on soil erosion and organic carbon losses under natural rainfall. *Catena*, 148, 117-125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2016.06.017
- Christiansen, J. L., & Gallaway, B. J. (1984). Raccoon removal, nesting success, and hatchling emergence in Iowa turtles with special reference to *Kinosternon flavescens* (*Kinosternidae*). *The Southwestern Naturalist*, 343-348. https://doi.org/10.2307/3671365

- Compton, B. (2007). Status Assessment for the Blanding's Turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) in the Northeast. *Prepared for the United States Fish and Wildlife Service. Department of Natural Resources Conservation, University of Massachusetts. Amherst, Massachusetts.*
- Congdon, J. D., Breitenbach, G. L., van Loben Sels, R. C., & Tinkle, D. W. (1987). Reproduction and nesting ecology of snapping turtles (*Chelydra serpentina*) in southeastern Michigan. *Herpetologica*, 39-54. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3892436
- Congdon, J. D., Dunham, A. E., & van Loben Sels, R. C. (1993). Delayed sexual maturity and demographics of Blanding's turtles (*Emydoidea blandingii*): implications for conservation and management of long-lived organisms. *Conservation Biology*, 7(4), 826-833. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1993.740826.x
- Congdon, J. D., Dunham, A. E., & Sels, R. V. L. (1994). Demographics of common snapping turtles (*Chelydra serpentina*): implications for conservation and management of long-lived organisms. *American Zoologist*, 34(3), 397-408. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/34.3.397
- Coûteaux, M. M., Bottner, P., & Berg, B. (1995). Litter decomposition, climate and litter quality. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 10(2), 63-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(00)88978-8

- Crins, W. J., Gray, P. A., Uhlig, P. W. C., & Wester, M.C. (2009). *The ecosystems of Ontario, part I: ecozones and ecoregions*. Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources.
 https://www.ontario.ca/page/ecosystems-ontario-part-1-ecozones-and-ecoregions
- Crittenden, P. D. (2000). Aspects of the ecology of mat-forming lichens. *Rangifer*, 20(2-3), 127-139. https://doi.org/10.7557/2.20.2-3.1508
- Dai, A., Trenberth, K. E., & Qian, T. (2004). A global dataset of Palmer Drought Severity Index for 1870–2002: Relationship with soil moisture and effects of surface warming. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 5(6), 1117-1130. https://doi.org/10.1175/JHM-386.1
- Danell, K., Mikael Utsi, P., Thomas Palo, R., & Eriksson, O. (1994). Food plant selection by reindeer during winter in relation to plant quality. *Ecography*, 17(2), 153-158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1994.tb00088.x
- Davidson, D. W., Bowker, M., George, D., Phillips, S. L., & Belnap, J. (2002). Treatment effects on performance of N-fixing lichens in disturbed soil crusts of the Colorado Plateau. *Ecological Applications*, 12(5), 1391-1405. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2002)012[1391:TEOPON]2.0.CO;2
- Didion, M., Repo, A., Liski, J., Forsius, M., Bierbaumer, M., & Djukic, I. (2016). Towards harmonizing leaf litter decomposition studies using standard tea bags—a field study and model application. *Forests*, 7(8), 167. https://doi.org/10.3390/f7080167

- Duncan, S. J. (2015). Woodland caribou alpine range restoration: An application for lichen transplants. *Ecological Restoration*, *33*(1), 22-29. https://doi.org10.3368/er.33.1.22
- Dunford, J. S., McLoughlin, P. D., Dalerum, F., & Boutin, S. (2006). Lichen abundance in the peatlands of northern Alberta: implications for boreal caribou. *Ecoscience*, 13(4), 469-474. https://doi.org/10.2980/1195-6860(2006)13[469:LAITPO]2.0.CO;2
- Edge, C. B., Steinberg, B. D., Brooks, R. J., & Litzgus, J. D. (2010). Habitat selection by Blanding's turtles (*Emydoidea blandingii*) in a relatively pristine landscape. *Ecoscience*, 17(1), 90-99. https://doi.org/10.2980/17-1-3317
- Engeman, R. M., Martin, R. E., Smith, H. T., Woolard, J., Crady, C. K., Shwiff, S. A., ... & Griner,
 J. (2005). Dramatic reduction in predation on marine turtle nests through improved predator monitoring and management. *Oryx*, 39(3), 318-326. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605305000876
- Frolking, S. E., Bubier, J. L., Moore, T. R., Ball, T., Bellisario, L. M., Bhardwaj, A., ... & Roulet, N. T. (1998). Relationship between ecosystem productivity and photosynthetically active radiation for northern peatlands. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 12(1), 115-126. https://doi.org/10.1029/97GB03367
- Gilbert, O. (2001). The lichen flora of coastal saline lagoons in England. *The Lichenologist*, *33*(5), 409-417. https://doi.org/10.1006/lich.2001.0344
- Glaholt, R., Meloche, C., & VanHam, L. (1997). Experimental storage of terrestrial lichen and implications for reclamation of caribou habitat. In *Proceedings of the 6th International Symposium on Environmental Concerns in Rights-of-Way Management* (pp. 24-26).
- Government of Canada. (2019). Canadian Climate Normals 1981-2010. https://climate.weather.gc.ca/climate normals/index e.html
- Graf, M. D., & Rochefort, L. (2010). Moss regeneration for fen restoration: field and greenhouse experiments. *Restoration Ecology*, 18(1), 121-130. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2008.00437.x
- Groeneveld, E., & Rochefort, L. (2005). *Polytrichum strictum* as a solution to frost heaving in disturbed ecosystems: a case study with milled peatlands. *Restoration Ecology*, *13*(1), 74-82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2005.00009.x
- Groeneveld, E. V., Masse, A., & Rochefort, L. (2007). Polytrichum strictum as a nurse-plant in peatland restoration. Restoration Ecology, 15(4), 709-719. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2007.00283.x

- Harris, L. I., Moore, T. R., Roulet, N. T., & Pinsonneault, A. J. (2018). Lichens: A limit to peat growth? *Journal of Ecology*, *106*(6), 2301-2319. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12975
- Ho, J., Tumkaya, T., Aryal, S., Choi, H., & Claridge-Chang, A. (2019). Moving beyond P values:
 data analysis with estimation graphics. *Nature Methods*, 16(7), 565-566.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-019-0470-3
- Honegger, R. (2003). The impact of different long-term storage conditions on the viability of lichen-forming ascomycetes and their green algal photobiont, *Trebouxia* spp. *Plant Biology*, 5(03), 324-330. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2003-40794
- Inga, B. (2007). Reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus tarandus*) feeding on lichens and mushrooms: traditional ecological knowledge among reindeer-herding Sami in northern Sweden. *Rangifer*, 27(2), 93-106. https://doi.org/10.7557/2.27.2.163
- Jackson, T. A. (2015). Weathering, secondary mineral genesis, and soil formation caused by lichens and mosses growing on granitic gneiss in a boreal forest environment. *Geoderma*, 251, 78-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.03.012
- Keever, C., Oosting, H. J., & Anderson, L. E. (1951). Plant succession on exposed granite of rocky face mountain, Alexander County, North Carolina. *Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club*, 78. 401-421. https://doi. org/10.2307/2482020

- Kershaw, K. A., & Field, G. F. (1975). Studies on lichen-dominated systems. XV. The temperature and humidity profiles in a *Cladina alpestris* mat. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 53(22), 2614-2620. https://doi.org/10.1139/b75-289
- Keuskamp, J. A., Dingemans, B. J., Lehtinen, T., Sarneel, J. M., & Hefting, M. M. (2013). Tea Bag Index: a novel approach to collect uniform decomposition data across ecosystems. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(11), 1070-1075. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12097
- Kiviat, E., Stevens, G., Brauman, R., Hoeger, S., Petokas, P. J., & Hollands, G. G. (2000).
 Restoration of wetland and upland habitat for the Blanding's turtle, *Emydoidea blandingii*.
 Chelonian Conservation and Biology, 3(4), 650-657.
- Lalley, J. S., Viles, H. A., Henschel, J. R., & Lalley, V. (2006). Lichen-dominated soil crusts as arthropod habitat in warm deserts. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 67(4), 579-593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2006.03.017
- Lange O.L. (2001). Photosynthesis of soil-crust biota as dependent on environmental factors. In: Belnap J., Lange O.L. (Eds.), *Biological Soil Crusts: Structure, Function, and Management* (pp. 217-240). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-56475-8_18

- Lesbarrères, D., Ashpole, S. L., Bishop, C. A., Blouin-Demers, G., Brooks, R. J., Echaubard, P., ... & Houlahan, J. (2014). Conservation of herpetofauna in northern landscapes: Threats and challenges from a Canadian perspective. *Biological Conservation*, 170, 48-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.12.030
- Litzgus, J. D., & Brooks, R. J. (1998). Reproduction in a northern population of *Clemmys guttata*. Journal of Herpetology, 252-259. https://doi.org/10.2307/1565305
- Maestre, F. T., Bowker, M. A., Cantón, Y., Castillo-Monroy, A. P., Cortina, J., Escolar, C., ... & Martínez, I. (2011). Ecology and functional roles of biological soil crusts in semi-arid ecosystems of Spain. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 75(12), 1282-1291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2010.12.008
- Marchand, M. N., & Litvaitis, J. A. (2004a). Effects of landscape composition, habitat features, and nest distribution on predation rates of simulated turtle nests. *Biological Conservation*, *117*(3), 243-251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2003.07.003
- Marchand, M. N., & Litvaitis, J. A. (2004b). Effects of habitat features and landscape composition on the population structure of a common aquatic turtle in a region undergoing rapid development. *Conservation Biology*, 18(3), 758-767. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00019.x

- Markle, C. E., & Chow-Fraser, P. (2014). Habitat selection by the Blanding's turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) on a protected island in Georgian Bay, Lake Huron. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, 13(2), 216-226. https://doi.org/10.2744/CCB-1075.1
- Markle, C. E., Wilkinson S. L., & Waddington, J. M. (2020). Initial effects of wildfire on freshwater turtle nesting habitat. *Journal of wildlife management*. JWM-19-0415. In press.
- Moore, P. A., Smolarz, A. G., Markle, C. E., & Waddington, J. M. (2019). Hydrological and thermal properties of moss and lichen species on rock barrens: Implications for turtle nesting habitat. *Ecohydrology*, 12(2), e2057. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.2057
- Paterson, J. E., Steinberg, B. D., & Litzgus, J. D. (2013). Not just any old pile of dirt: evaluating the use of artificial nesting mounds as conservation tools for freshwater turtles. *Oryx*, 47(4), 607-615. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605312000877
- Pirk, N., Mastepanov, M., Parmentier, F. J. W., Lund, M., Crill, P., & Christensen, T. R. (2016). Calculations of automatic chamber flux measurements of methane and carbon dioxide using short time series of concentrations. *Biogeosciences*, 13(4), 903. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-13-903-2016
- Price, D. T., Alfaro, R. I., Brown, K. J., Flannigan, M. D., Fleming, R. A., Hogg, E. H., ... & Pedlar,J. H. (2013). Anticipating the consequences of climate change for Canada's boreal forest

ecosystems. *Environmental Reviews*, 21(4), 322-365. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0042

- Riley, J. L., & Litzgus, J. D. (2013). Evaluation of predator-exclusion cages used in turtle conservation: cost analysis and effects on nest environment and proxies of hatchling fitness. *Wildlife Research*, 40(6), 499-511. https://doi.org/10.1071/WR13090
- Roturier, S., Bäcklund, S., Sundén, M., & Bergsten, U. (2007). Influence of ground substrate on establishment of reindeer lichen after artificial dispersal. *Silva Fennica* 41(2), 269-280. http://www.metla.fi/silvafennica/full/sf41/sf412269.pdf
- Roturier, S., & Bergsten, U. (2009). Establishment of *Cladonia stellaris* after artificial dispersal in an unfenced forest in northern Sweden. *Rangifer*, 29(1), 39-49. https://doi.org/10.7557/2.29.1.208
- Smith, D. C. (1962). The biology of lichen thalli. *Biological Reviews*, *37*(4), 537-570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.1962.tb01336.x
- Smith, P. L. (2014). Lichen translocation with reference to species conservation and habitat restoration. *Symbiosis*, *62*(1), 17-28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13199-014-0269-z
- Sonesson, M., Sveinbjörnsson, B., Tehler, A., & Carlsson, B. Å. (2007). A comparison of the physiology, anatomy and ribosomal DNA in alpine and subalpine populations of the lichen

Nephroma arcticum—the effects of an eight-year transplant experiment. *The Bryologist*, 110(2), 244-253. https://doi.org/10.1639/0007-2745(2007)110[244:ACOTPA]2.0.CO;2

- Spence, C., & Woo, M. K. (2002). Hydrology of subarctic Canadian Shield: bedrock upland. Journal of Hydrology, 262(1-4), 111-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(02)00010-0
- Starr, J. L., & Paltineanu, I. C. (2002). Methods for measurement of soil water content: Capacitance devices. In J.H. Dane & G.C. Topp (Eds.), Methods of soil analysis: Part 4 physical methods (pp. 463-474). Soil Science Society of America, Inc.
- Steen, D. A., & Gibbs, J. P. (2004). Effects of roads on the structure of freshwater turtle populations. *Conservation Biology*, 18(4), 1143-1148. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00240.x
- Steen, D. A., Aresco, M. J., Beilke, S. G., Compton, B. W., Condon, E. P., Kenneth Dodd Jr, C.,
 ... & Langen, T. A. (2006). Relative vulnerability of female turtles to road mortality. *Animal Conservation*, 9(3), 269-273. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2006.00032.x
- Trenberth, K. E., Jones, P. D., Ambenje, P., Bojariu, R., Easterling, D., Tank, A. K., ... & Soden,
 B. (2007). *Observations: Surface and Atmospheric Climate Change. Chapter 3*. United Kingdom. http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar4/wg1/ar4-wg1-chapter3.pdf

- Trofymow, J. A., Moore, T. R., Titus, B., Prescott, C., Morrison, I., Siltanen, M., ... & Duschene,
 L. (2002). Rates of litter decomposition over 6 years in Canadian forests: influence of litter
 quality and climate. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 32(5), 789-804.
 https://doi.org/10.1139/x01-117
- Walton, M., & Villeneuve, M. (1999). Ecosystem planning in Georgian Bay Islands National Park:
 A multi-jurisdictional approach. In: Second international symposium and workshop on the conservation of the eastern Massasauga rattlesnake, Sistrurus catenatus catenatus:
 Population and habitat management issues in urban, bog, prairie and forested ecosystems (pp. 81-84). Toronto, ON: Toronto Zoo.
- Wotton, B. M., Flannigan, M. D., & Marshall, G. A. (2017). Potential climate change impacts on fire intensity and key wildfire suppression thresholds in Canada. *Environmental Research Letters*, 12(9), 095003. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa7e6e

Chapter 4: General Conclusion

Lichen and moss are the dominant ground cover on the rock barrens of eastern Georgian Bay, and they play a crucial role in the ecosystem as pioneering organisms, which are among the first to colonize open bedrock and jumpstart ecosystem succession (Burbanck & Platt, 1964; Keever et al., 1951). When lichen and moss colonize, they begin to develop and accumulate soil by chemically weathering the rock to create mineral soil (Jackson, 2015), decaying and forming organic soil (Keever et al., 1951), and trapping particles from wind and runoff (Burbanck & Platt, 1964). Further, the lichen and moss are able to stabilize the soil deposits by reducing erosion (Aguilar et al., 2009; Belnap & Gillette, 1998; Chamizo et al., 2017). Another role lichen and moss play in the ecosystem is moderating and improving the microclimate, which allows more complex vegetation to establish (Burbanck & Platt, 1964; Keever et al., 1951). Beyond their function in ecosystem succession, lichen and moss also provide habitat for species-at-risk wildlife. For example, lichen are a critical food source for caribou and reindeer in boreal and tundra regions (Bergerud, 1972; Danell et al., 1994; Inga, 2007). In arid regions, lichen and moss form biological soil crusts which improve soil nutrients (e.g. Chamizo et al., 2012) and provide habitat for microfauna such as arthropods (e.g. Lalley et al., 2006). On the rock barrens landscape of eastern Georgian Bay, the lichen and moss provide nesting habitat for turtle species-at-risk (e.g. Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014). However, lichen and moss are vulnerable to climate change and disturbance, and as such understanding the growth and persistence of these ecosystem resources is a critical research need in order to effectively conserve turtle nesting habitat.

In chapter two we determined that the wet periods (spring and fall) of the growing season are critical for the growth of lichen and moss in rock barrens ecosystems. Furthermore, we determined that soil moisture is the most important control on lichen and moss CO2 exchange, and that lichen and moss do not respond in the same way to changes in soil moisture. These results have important implications when considering the impact of climate change on rock barrens landscapes. As the climate changes, drought frequency and severity are expected to increase (Dai et al., 2004; Price et al., 2013; Trenberth et al., 2007), and in the northern hemisphere summer-like conditions are expected to become more frequent (Trenberth et al., 2007; Vrac et al., 2014; Walther et al., 2002). If we begin to see drier conditions on the rock barrens, lichen and moss will have shorter periods where CO₂ uptake is possible and annual productivity will likely decline. Lichen will be more impacted than moss, as moss has a greater CO₂ uptake at lower soil moisture contents when compared to lichen. This difference could lead to a greater proportion of moss on the landscape relative to lichen. A lower proportion of lichen on the landscape would negatively impact turtles as they primarily select lichen-dominated soil deposits for nesting. Further, lower productivity of lichen and moss will likely lead to reduced chemical weathering, and therefore less soil development on the landscape. A decline in soil development will reduce available nesting habitat as smaller-bodied turtles nest in 8 – 15 cm of soil on a rock barrens landscape (Markle et al., 2020). In summary, we determined that lichen and moss productivity will likely decline as a result of increasingly limited soil moisture, and this will have negative implications for the integrity of rock barrens ecosystems.

In chapter three we determined that lichen productivity and decomposition were similar between transplant and natural patches, which suggests that transplanting in-tact patches of lichen is a feasible restoration approach. Conversely, we found some differences in moss productivity between transplant and natural patches which implies that fragment dispersal may be a better method for moss restoration. While fragment dispersal is feasible for moss, which can form a mat from fragments in two to three seasons (Graf & Rochefort, 2010; Roturier et al., 2007), it is less reasonable for lichens which can take up to 45 years to form a mat (Carroll & Bliss, 1982; Crittenden, 2000; Dunford et al., 2006; Roturier et al., 2007). By transplanting in-tact patches of lichen out of an impact footprint, we can use the transplant patches to restore habitat and provide lichen cover. Transplanting patches allows us to immediately recover the ecosystem services that lichens provide, rather than having to wait decades for fragments to establish. On the eastern Georgian Bay rock barrens lichen mats are essential turtle nesting habitat (Litzgus & Brooks, 1998; Markle & Chow-Fraser, 2014) and restoration methods are often needed following disturbance from construction or wildfire. If we can transplant lichen and moss out of the footprint of a planned impact, we can move the transplants to an undisturbed portion of the landscape and restore nesting habitat in that area. This transplant approach can likely be applied in other ecosystems, such as boreal forests and tundra regions where caribou and reindeer rely on lichen as a food source (Bergerud, 1972; Danell et al., 1994; Inga, 2007), and in arid regions where lichen and moss are essential for stabilizing soil (Aguilar et al., 2009; Belnap & Gillette, 1998; Chamizo et al., 2017) and providing habitat for microfauna (e.g. Lalley et al., 2006). In chapter three we tested an understudied restoration approach for lichen and moss, and we determined that transplanting intact lichen patches is possible on rock barrens landscapes and can be applied prior to destruction from planned disturbances to preserve lichens.

In summary, this thesis has expanded the knowledge of lichen and moss on rock barrens landscapes. We have explored the ecohydrological controls that govern lichen and moss growth in eastern Georgian Bay, and we have defined peak growth periods. We then applied that knowledge and our understanding of the rock barrens landscape to transplant lichen and moss as in-tact patches. Through this experiment we have determined that transplanting lichen patches is a feasible approach that can be applied to protect the slow-growing lichens and reduce long term impacts on turtle nesting habitat in the eastern Georgian Bay region. Lichen and moss grow around the world, and we believe that in addition to eastern Georgian Bay, our findings will be relevant for ecosystems globally. Our chapter two findings will add to the literature and understanding of lichen and moss growth, and our chapter three findings indicate that lichen transplants can be successful, and we believe they can be applied in other ecosystems as well. In terms of future work, the in-tact transplant approach should be studied for a longer time period and in a variety of ecosystems. Further, the moss transplant experiment should be repeated under higher moisture conditions to see if the moss transplants can maintain the same productivity as natural patches when water is more available. Overall, this thesis has contributed to the knowledge and understanding of lichen and moss persistence on rock barrens landscapes, and we have provided evidence of a restoration approach that could be used to restore surface cover characteristic of suitable turtle nesting habitat in rock barrens ecosystems.

Literature cited

- Aguilar, A. J., Huber-Sannwald, E., Belnap, J., Smart, D. R., & Moreno, J. A. (2009).
 Biological soil crusts exhibit a dynamic response to seasonal rain and release from grazing with implications for soil stability. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 73(12), 1158-1169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2009.05.009
- Belnap, J., & Gillette, D. A. (1998). Vulnerability of desert biological soil crusts to wind erosion: the influences of crust development, soil texture, and disturbance. *Journal* of arid environments, 39(2), 133-142. https://doi.org/10.1006/jare.1998.0388
- Bergerud, A. T. (1972). Food habits of Newfoundland caribou. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 913-923. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3799448
- Burbanck, M. P., & Platt, R. B. (1964). Granite outcrop communities of the Piedmont Plateau in Georgia. *Ecology*, 45(2), 292-306. https://doi.org/10.2307/1933842
- Carroll, S. B., & Bliss, L. C. (1982). Jack pine–lichen woodland on sandy soils in northern Saskatchewan and northeastern Alberta. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 60(11), 2270-2282. https://doi.org/10.1139/b82-278
- Chamizo, S., Cantón, Y., Miralles, I., & Domingo, F. (2012). Biological soil crust development affects physicochemical characteristics of soil surface in semiarid

ecosystems. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 49, 96-105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.02.017

- Chamizo, S., Rodríguez-Caballero, E., Román, J. R., & Cantón, Y. (2017). Effects of biocrust on soil erosion and organic carbon losses under natural rainfall. *Catena*, 148, 117-125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2016.06.017
- Crittenden, P. D. (2000). Aspects of the ecology of mat-forming lichens. *Rangifer*, 20(2-3), 127-139. https://doi.org/10.7557/2.20.2-3.1508
- Dai, A., Trenberth, K. E., & Qian, T. (2004). A global dataset of Palmer Drought Severity
 Index for 1870–2002: Relationship with soil moisture and effects of surface
 warming. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, 5(6), 1117-1130.
 https://doi.org/10.1175/JHM-386.1
- Danell, K., Mikael Utsi, P., Thomas Palo, R., & Eriksson, O. (1994). Food plant selection by reindeer during winter in relation to plant quality. *Ecography*, 17(2), 153-158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1994.tb00088.x
- Dunford, J. S., McLoughlin, P. D., Dalerum, F., & Boutin, S. (2006). Lichen abundance in the peatlands of northern Alberta: implications for boreal caribou. *Ecoscience*, 13(4), 469-474. https://doi.org/10.2980/1195-6860(2006)13[469:LAITPO]2.0.CO;2

- Graf, M. D., & Rochefort, L. (2010). Moss regeneration for fen restoration: field and greenhouse experiments. *Restoration Ecology*, 18(1), 121-130. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2008.00437.x
- Inga, B. (2007). Reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus tarandus*) feeding on lichens and mushrooms: traditional ecological knowledge among reindeer-herding Sami in northern Sweden. *Rangifer*, 27(2), 93-106. https://doi.org/10.7557/2.27.2.163
- Jackson, T. A. (2015). Weathering, secondary mineral genesis, and soil formation caused by lichens and mosses growing on granitic gneiss in a boreal forest environment. *Geoderma*, 251, 78-91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.03.012
- Keever, C., Oosting, H. J., & Anderson, L. E. (1951). Plant succession on exposed granite of rocky face mountain, Alexander County, North Carolina. *Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club*, 78. 401-421. https://doi.org/10.2307/2482020
- Lalley, J. S., Viles, H. A., Henschel, J. R., & Lalley, V. (2006). Lichen-dominated soil crusts as arthropod habitat in warm deserts. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 67(4), 579-593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2006.03.017
- Litzgus, J. D., & Brooks, R. J. (1998). Reproduction in a northern population of *Clemmys* guttata. Journal of Herpetology, 252-259. https://doi.org/10.2307/1565305

Markle, C. E., & Chow-Fraser, P. (2014). Habitat selection by the Blanding's turtle (*Emydoidea blandingii*) on a protected island in Georgian Bay, Lake Huron. *Chelonian Conservation and Biology*, 13(2), 216-226. https://doi.org/10.2744/CCB-1075.1

- Markle, C. E., Wilkinson S. L., & Waddington, J. M. (2020). Initial effects of wildfire on freshwater turtle nesting habitat. *Journal of Wildlife Management*. JWM-19-0415. In press.
- Price, D. T., Alfaro, R. I., Brown, K. J., Flannigan, M. D., Fleming, R. A., Hogg, E. H., ...
 & Pedlar, J. H. (2013). Anticipating the consequences of climate change for Canada's boreal forest ecosystems. *Environmental Reviews*, 21(4), 322-365. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0042
- Roturier, S., Bäcklund, S., Sundén, M., & Bergsten, U. (2007). Influence of ground substrate on establishment of reindeer lichen after artificial dispersal. *Silva Fennica* 41(2), 269-280. http://www.metla.fi/silvafennica/full/sf41/sf412269.pdf
- Trenberth, K. E., Jones, P. D., Ambenje, P., Bojariu, R., Easterling, D., Tank, A. K., ... & Soden, B. (2007). Observations: Surface and Atmospheric Climate Change. Chapter 3. United Kingdom. http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessmentreport/ar4/wg1/ar4-wg1-chapter3.pdf

- Vrac, M., Vaittinada Ayar, P., & Yiou, P. (2014). Trends and variability of seasonal weather regimes. *International Journal of Climatology*, 34(2), 472-480. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3700
- Walther, G. R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T. J., ... & Bairlein,
 F. (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. *Nature*, *416*(6879), 389.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/416389a